MICRORNAS: TISSUE EXPRESSION AND ROLE IN 3T3-L1 PRE-ADIPOCYTE

DIFFERENTIATION

APPROVED BY SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

David Mangelsdorf, Ph.D.

Dean P. Smith, M.D., Ph.D.

Steven A. Kliewer, Ph.D.

Hongtao Yu, Ph.D.

MICRORNAS: TISSUE EXPRESSION AND ROLE IN 3T3-L1 PRE-ADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION

by

TINGWAN SUN

DISSERTATION / THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas

Dallas, Texas

July, 2008

Copyright

by

Tingwan Sun, 2008

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank everyone who helped me during my graduate study, not limited to those mentioned here. First of all, I want to thank my mentor Dr. David Mangelsdorf for his supports in providing money, space and resources to do my research, also for his time and efforts to instruct me. It is great to do research in the harmonious Mango /Kliewer lab.

Also I want to thank my committee members Dr. Steven Kliewer, Dr. Hongtao Yu, and Dr. Dean Smith for their suggestions and help for my research. I appreciate that Dr. Yu gave me good suggestions on my research and Dr. Kliewer helped revise my paper.

Thanks to people in Mango Kliewer lab for their support. Dr. Mingui Fu taught me mouse experiments and lab techniques, such as northern blot. Also, we collaborated on the project of microRNAs in adipogenesis. I learned a lot from him. Angie Bookout helped me on Q-PCR and she did some of the expression profiling of microRNAs in mouse tissues. She also helped me read my thesis. Keith Baker helped me during my rotation in the Mango lab. Also I am grateful to current and previous members from the Mango Kliewer lab, including Yuan Zhang, Xiaoyong Zhi, Tingting Li, Zhu Wang, Vicky Lin, Michihisa Umetani, Yang Sik Jeong, Daniel Schmidt, Aurora del Rosario, Gail Wright, Mak Shimizu, Varun Sondhi, Sam Holmstrom, Elizabeth Martinez, Xunshan Ding, Paul Dutchak , Youn-Kyoung Lee, Serkan Kir, Matthew Potthoff, Youngjai You, Stan Atkin , Andy shulman, Daniel Motola, Antonio Moschetta, Nada Kalaany, Karine Gauthier, Carolin Cummins, Takeshi Inagaki, Klementina Fon Tacer, Laura Molyneux, Mihwa Choi and Chuanzhen Wu. I appreciate the assistance from Carla Childers in the Cell Regulation program and people in the microarray, protein ID, and Flow Cytometry core facility. Dr. Jimin Pei helped me calculate the correlations coefficient between miRNAs and nuclear receptors. Also, Dr. Matthew Porteus kindly let me use his Nucleofector.

Finally, I want to thank for all the support from Bingke Yu, my friends, and my family members. Without your support, I would not have overcome all the trouble and suffering in these years.

Thank you all.

MICRORNAS: TISSUE EXPRESSION AND ROLE IN 3T3-L1 PRE-ADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION

Publication No.

Tingwan Sun, Ph.D.

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas, 2008

Supervising Professor: David Mangelsdorf, Ph.D.

MicroRNAs, which are endogenous small RNAs around 22 nucleotides, play important roles in many physiological processes. We investigated whether microRNAs regulate 3T3-L1 pre-adipocyte differentiation. The expression of microRNAs during 3T3-L1 pre-adipocyte differentiation was detected by microarrays and confirmed by northern blot and quantitative real time PCR. Several microRNAs, including *let-7*, were up-regulated at the late stage of 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. *let-7* expression specifically increased during the late stage of 3T3-L1 differentiation and ectopic introduction of *let-7* in 3T3-L1 cells before hormonal induction

inhibited 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. Both the mRNA and protein levels of HMGA2, a target of *let-7*, decreased with ectopic *let-7* presence in 3T3-L1 cells. Also, HMGA2 protein level was inversely correlated to *let-7* levels during 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. Knock-down of *Hmga2* or *E2f1* by siRNA inhibited 3T3-L1 pre-adipocyte differentiation. Our results suggest *let-7* can stop clonal expansion of 3T3-L1 cells and bring them to final growth arrest and terminal differentiation by targeting *Hmga2*.

In an effort to explore the role of microRNA, the expression of 111 microRNAs in 36 mouse tissues was detected by quantitative real time PCR. MicroRNAs either show universal expression in all tissues or specific expression in certain tissues, suggesting their roles in these tissues. Different isotypes of the same microRNAs or microRNAs transcribed from the same genomic location show similar expression pattern in mouse tissues. Hierarchical cluster analysis based on the expression of microRNA in tissues showed that tissues having similar physiologic functions or anatomic locations clustered together, suggesting the roles of microRNAs might be consistent with the functions of the tissues in which they are expressed. Comparison of the expression of microRNAs with that of nuclear receptors in mouse tissues showed positive correlations between a select number of nuclear receptors and microRNAs, but these relationships need to be verified by experimental data. In all, the expression profile of microRNAs in mouse tissues provides a useful tool for microRNA studies.

PRIOR PUBLICATIONS

Sun T, Fu M, Bookout AL, Kliewer SA, Mangelsdorf DJ. MicroRNA *let-7* regulates 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. *Submitted*

Fu M, Sun T, Bookout AL, Downes M, Yu RT, Evans RM, Mangelsdorf DJ.

A Nuclear Receptor Atlas: 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. Mol Endocrinol. 2005 Oct;19(10):2437-50.

Naffin JL, Han Y, Olivos HJ, Reddy MM, **Sun T**, Kodadek T. Immobilized peptides as high-affinity capture agents for self-associating proteins. Chem Biol. 2003 Mar;10:251-9.

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Table 1.1	Program for miRNA predication
Figure 1.1	Biogenesis of microRNA9
Table 1.2	Online methods and resources for microRNA target predication11
Figure 2.1	Expression of microRNAs during 3T3-L1 differentiation49
Table 2.1	The expression change of microRNAs during 3T3-L1 differentiation50
Figure 2.2	Up-regulation of a subset of miRNAs was confirmed by northern blot during
3T3-L1 dif	ferentiation
Figure 2.3	<i>let-7</i> induction is specific for adipogenesis
Table 2.2	<i>let-7</i> isotypes in mice
Figure 2.4	Pre-let-7 can be transfected and converted into its mature form in 3T3-L1
cells	
Figure 2.5	Ectopic introduction of <i>let-7</i> inhibits 3T3-L1 cell differentiation
Figure 2.6	Ectopic presence of <i>let-7</i> inhibits 3T3-L1 adipogenesis60
Figure 2.7	Ectopic presence of <i>let-7</i> inhibits 3T3-L1 clonal expansion62
Table 2.3	Genes down-regulated by <i>let-7</i> in 3T3-L1 cells63
Figure 2.8	<i>let-7</i> can bind to the 3'UTR of E2f5 and E2f6 and regulates their expression65
Figure 2.9	let-7 regulates 3T3-L1 cell differentiation through HMGA2 pathway67
Figure 2.10	Schematic of <i>let-7</i> and HMGA2 level during 3T3-L1 cell differentiation69
Figure 3.1	Quantitative real time PCR and northern analysis showed miR-122 is
specifically	expressed in liver
Figure 3.2	The expression of miR-30 in mouse tissues85

Figure 3.3	The expression of microRNA in mouse tissues	86
Figure 3.4	The expression of miR-16 and miR-335 in mouse tissue	87
Figure 3.5	The expression of miR-133 in mouse tissues and during C2C12	
differentiati	on	88
Figure 3.6	The expression of miR-194, HNF4 γ , and PXR in mouse tissues	89
Figure 3.7	The expression of miR-23 in mouse tissues	90
Figure 3.8	The expression of miR-203 and miR-205 in mouse tissues	91
Figure 3.9	The expression of miR-148a and miR-213 in mouse tissues	92
Figure 3.10	The expression of miR-140 and miR-142 in mouse tissues	93
Figure 3.11	The expression of miR-184 and PNR in mouse tissues	94
Figure 3.12	The expression of miR-182 and miR-183 in mouse tissues	95
Figure 3.13	The expression of miR-124 in mouse tissues	96
Figure 3.14	The expression of miR-9 in mouse tissues	97
Figure 3.15	The expression of miR-29 in mouse tissues	98
Figure 3.16	The expression of miR-128 in mouse tissues	99
Figure 3.17	The expression of miR-132 and miR-204 in mouse tissues	.100
Figure 3.18	The expression of miR-218 and miR-219 in mouse tissues	.101
Figure 3.19	The expression of miR-127 and miR-129 in mouse tissues	.102
Figure 3.20	The expression of miR-134 and miR-137 in mouse tissues	.103
Figure 3.21	The expression of miR-154, miR-323, and miR-370 in mouse tissues	.104
Figure 3.22	Cluster analysis of mouse tissues based on their microRNA expression	.105
Figure 3.23	Cluster analysis of microRNAs based on their expression in mouse tissues	.106

Figure 3.24	The expression of let-7 in mouse tissues10	7
Figure 3.25	The expression of miR-17, miR-19a, and miR-20 in mouse tissues10	8
Table 3.1	Correlations between microRNAs and Nuclear receptors	9
Figure 3.26	Test whether miR-194 is a transcriptional target of nuclear receptors11	0

LIST OF ABBREVIATION

aP2	Fatty acid binding protein 4
APL	Acute promyelocytic leukemia
ASO	Antisense oligonucleotides
Ban	Bantam
BAT	Brown adipose tissue
BCKD	Branched chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase
BMAL1	Brain and muscle Arnt-like protein-1
BMP	Bone morphogenetic proteins
C/EBP	CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins
CAR	Constitutive androstane receptor
СНОР	C/EBP homologous protein
CNS	Central nervous system
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
Dlk1	Delta-like 1
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMI	Dexamethasone, IBMX and insulin
DRPLA	Dentatorubral-pallidoluysian atrophy
EB	Ethidium bromide
Ebf	Early B cell factor
EGF	Epidermal growth factor

EPAS1	Endothelial PAS domain protein 1
ERG	Ether-a-go-go related gene
ERK	Extracellular signal regulated kinase
FAS	Fatty acid synthase
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FMR1	Fragile X mental retardation 1
Fstl1	Follistatin-like 1
FXR	Farnesoid X receptor
GJA1	Gap junction protein, alpha 1
GR	Glucocorticoids receptor
HDAC4	Histone deacetylase 4
Hh	Hedgehog
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
Hmga2	High mobitilty group AT-hook 2
HNF4	Hepatocyte nuclear factor-4
HRP	Horseradish Peroxidase
IBMX	3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IGF2BP1	Insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA binding protein 1
IRAK1	IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 1

IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
KCNJ2	Potassium inwardly-rectifying channel, subfamily J, member 2
KLF	Krüppel-like Factor
Lck	Lymphocyte specific protein tyrosine kinase
LNA	Locked nucleic acid
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
LXR	Liver X receptor
MAPK	Mitogen activated protein kinases
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
miRISC	MiRNA containing RNA induced silencing complex
miRNA	MicroRNA
MVEC	Microvascular endothelial cells
OATP2	Organic anion transporting polypeptide 2
PANK	Pantothenate kinase enzyme
PBS	Phosphate buffer solution
PDCD4	Programmed cell death 4
PDK4	Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase, isozyme 4
PFV-1	Primate foamy virus type 1
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
PKB	Protein kinase B
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor

Pref-1	Preadipocyte factor 1
Pri-miRNA	Primary microRNA
РТВ	Polypyrimidine tract binding protein 1
PTC	Patched
PXR	Pregnane X receptor
RA	Retinoic acid
RAR	Retinoic acid receptor
Rb	Retinoblastoma
REST	RE1-silencing transcription factor
RNAi	RNA interference
RT	Reverse transcription
RXR	Retinoid X receptor
SCP1	Small C-terminal domain phosphatase 1
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
Sens	Senseless
Shh	Sonic Hedgehog
SLITRK1	Slit and Trk-like 1
Smo	Smoothened
SOP	Sensory organ precursors
SREBP	Sterol regulatory element binding protein
SRF	Serum response factor

SV	Stromal-vascular
SV40	Simian virus 40
TACE	Tumor necrosis factor α converting enzyme
TBE	Tris-Borate-EDTA
TGF β	Transforming growth factor β
Thrap1	Thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein 1
TPM1	Tropomyosin 1
TRAF6	TNF receptor-associated factor 6
TRBP	HIV transactivating response RNA-binding protein
TS	Tourette's syndrome
Tsp1	Thrombospondin-1
TZD	Thiazolidinedione
UTR	Untranslated region
Utrn	Utrophin
WAT	White adipose tissue

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 11
General introduction
1.1 MicroRNA1
1.1.1 Discovery of microRNA1
1.1.2 Methods to identify microRNAs1
1.1.3 Genomic location of microRNAs
1.1.4 Regulation of microRNAs
1.1.5 MicroRNA biogenesis
1.1.6 Mechanism of microRNA action
1.1.7 Distinctions between siRNA and microRNA7
1.1.8 Target identification for microRNA
1.1.9 Functions of microRNAs11
1.1.9.1 MicroRNA in Cancer11
1.1.9.2 MicroRNA in metabolism14
1.1.9.3 MicroRNA in muscle function and development15
1.1.9.4 MicroRNA in Neurogenesis16
1.1.9.5 MicroRNA in immune system
1.1.9.6 MicroRNA in Haematopoiesis19
1.1.9.7 MicroRNA in Human diseases19
1.1.9.8 MicroRNA and Virus21

1.1.9.9 MicroRNA in C. elegans development	21
1.1.9.10 MicroRNA in Drosophila Development	22
1.1.9.11 MicroRNA in Vertebrate Development	23
1.2 Adipogenesis	25
1.2.1 Differentiation program	26
1.2.2 Transcription factors regulating adipogenesis	
1.2.2.1 PPARy	
1.2.2.2 C/EBP family	
1.2.2.3 Kruppel-like Factor family	31
1.2.2.4 Other factors	
1.2.3 Signalling pathway regulating adipogenesis	
1.2.3.1 Insulin and IGF1 pathway	
1.2.3.2 Glucocorticoid Receptor	
1.2.3.3 FGF family	35
1.2.3.4 MAPK pathway	35
1.2.3.5 TGF β family	
1.2.3.6 Wnt signalling	
1.2.3.7 Hedgehog signalling pathway	
1.2.3.8 Pref1 signalling	
CHAPTER 2	
The role of microRNA in 3T3-L1 cell differentiation	
2.1 INTRODUCTION	

2.2 RESULTS
2.2.1 Expression of <i>let-7</i> and other miRNAs during adipogenesis
2.2.2 <i>let-7</i> inhibits 3T3-L1 differentiation
2.2.3 Overexpression of <i>let-7</i> impairs clonal expansion of 3T3-L1 cells
2.2.4 Microarray analysis showed <i>let-7</i> down-regulated some genes at mRNA level45
2.2.5 <i>let-7</i> may regulate clonal expansion and differentiation by targeting HMGA246
2.2.7 <i>let-7</i> and Hmga2 play an import role in 3T3-L1 adipogenesis47
2.3 DISCUSSION
2.4 SUMMARY
CHAPTER 374
Profiles of microRNA Expression in Normal Mouse Tissues Detected by Quantitative Real
Time PCR
3.1 INTRODUCTION
3.2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
3.2.1 MicroRNAs show different expression patterns in mouse tissues77
3.2.1.1 Low versus high expression level
3.2.1.2 Specific expression pattern
3.2.2 Hierarchical clustering of microRNAs based in mouse tissues
3.2.3 Correlation between nuclear receptors and microRNAs based on their expression
pattern in mouse tissues
3.3 SUMMARY

Material and Methods	
4.1 Cell culture and differentiation128	
4.2 Northern blot for microRNAs129	
4.3 RNA preparation and quantitative real time PCR	
4.4 Microarray	
4.5 Western blot	
4.6 Oil Red O staining131	
4.7 Glyceride content measurement	
4.8 3T3-L1 cell transfection using Nucleofector132	
4.9 Luciferase assay in F9 cells132	
4.10 Hierarchical cluster analysis	
Bibliography	

CHAPTER 1

General introduction

1.1 MicroRNA

1.1.1 Discovery of microRNA

The first microRNA (miRNA), *lin-4*, was found in *Caenorhabditis elegans* in 1993 (Lee et al., 1993). *lin-4* can regulate post embryonic *C. elelgans* development by negatively regulating *lin-14* protein through binding to the 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) of *lin-14* (Lee et al., 1993). In 2000, another microRNA, *let-7* was found in *C. elegans* (Reinhart et al., 2000). *let-7* can regulate *C. elegans* developmental timing by targeting *lin-14, lin-28, lin-41, lin-42*, and *daf-12* (Reinhart et al., 2000). The finding of *let-7* led to discovery of more microRNAs in worms, flies, and mammals (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2001; Lau et al., 2001; Lee and Ambros, 2001). There are 154 microRNAs in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, 152 in *Drosophila melanogaster*, 472 in *Mus musculus*, and 678 in *Homo sapiens* in the miRBase (http://microrna.sanger.ac.uk/) as of July, 2008.

1.1.2 Methods to identify microRNAs

Forward genetics identifies genes that are responsible for certain phenotypes. It was the first method to find microRNAs such as *lin-4* and *let-7* in *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Lee et al., 1993; Reinhart et al., 2000). *bantam* was another microRNA found in *Drosophila* by genetic methods (Brennecke et al., 2003). Another way to discover microRNAs on a large scale is

cDNA cloning (Ambros et al., 2003b). Investigators clone small size RNAs, compare their sequences to genomic sequences, and use RNA folding predictions to check whether they belong to microRNA family. Then northern blot is used to check their expression (Ambros and Lee, 2004). The third method used to identify microRNA is using bioinformatics programs. These programs are based on the fact that the sequences of microRNA are evolutionally conserved and microRNA precursors have a stem loop structure. These bioinformatics programs are summarized in Table 1.1 (Kim and Nam, 2006).

1.1.3 Genomic location of microRNAs

It was thought that most microRNAs are made from independent transcripts (Lau et al., 2001). After annotating the sequences of some mammalian microRNAs with their genomes, researchers found 161 out of 232 microRNAs are located within the overlap of defined transcription units (Rodriguez et al., 2004). Among them, 90 out of 161 microRNAs are located in the intron of a protein encoding transcript, 27 are located in the intron of a non-protein encoding transcript, 30 are located in the exon of a non-protein encoding transcript (Rodriguez et al., 2004). Comparison of the expression pattern of microRNAs with their overlapping genes suggests that they may come from the same transcripts (Rodriguez et al., 2004). A single transcript may encode several microRNAs. For example, miR-35, miR-36, miR-37, miR-38, miR-39, miR-40, and miR-41 come from a single transcript in *C. elegans* (Lau et al., 2001). In the human genome, miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-20a, miR-19b-1, miR-92a-1 are from a cluster on chromosome 13

(Lagos-Quintana et al., 2001; Mourelatos et al., 2002).

MicroRNAs may have their own promoters. For examples, the promoter of miR-155 (also known as BIC gene) was found by genetic methods (Tam, 2001). Also the temporal regulatory element of *let-7* promoter has been characterized (Johnson et al., 2003).

1.1.4 Regulation of microRNAs

MicroRNAs can be regulated by other genes. p53 can bind to the promoter of miR-34 and activate its expression, which will lead to cell apoptosis (Chang et al., 2007; Corney et al., 2007; He et al., 2007b; Hermeking, 2007; Raver-Shapira et al., 2007; Tarasov et al., 2007). c-Myc can promote the expression of the miR-17-92 cluster (O'Donnell et al., 2005). Furthermore, miR-1 is the direct transcriptional target of SRF (serum response factor), MyoD (myogenic differentiation 1) and Mef2 (myocyte enhancer factor-2) (Zhao et al., 2005).

1.1.5 MicroRNA biogenesis

The process of microRNA biogenesis is summarized in Fig. 1.1. Most microRNAs are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. It has been shown to bind to the promoters of microRNAs and inhibition of its activity leads to less primary microRNA products (Lee et al., 2004). The microRNA is transcribed as a large product called the primary microRNA (pri-miRNA), which is several kilo basepairs in length and contains 5' caps and 3' polyadenylated tails (Cai et al., 2004). Pri-microRNA then is processed by the nuclear

Name of program	Methods	Prediction target	Nonconserv ed microRNA detection	Species	Sources
miRscan	Comparative analysis, stem-loop conservation	Pre-microRNA	No	Nematode	Lim et al, Genes Dev. (2003); 17(8):991-1008.
srnaloop	Sequential and structural properties	Pre-microRNA	No	Nematode	Grad et al, Mol. Cell (2003); 11:1253–1263
miRseeker	Comparative analysis, stem-loop conservation	Pre-microRNA	No	Fly	Lai et al, Genome Biol. (2003); 4:R4
	Sequential and structural properties, comparative analysis	Pre-microRNA	No	Arabidopsis	Wang et al, Genome Biol.(2004); 5:R65
ERPIN	Sequence or structural alignment	Pre-microRNA	No	Animal, plant	Legendre et al, Bioinformatics (2005); 21:841–845
findMicro RNA	Seed match, comparative analysis	Pre-microRNA and mature microRNA	No	Arabidopsis	Adai et al, Genome Res.(2005); 15:78–91
	Phylogenetic shadowing profile	Pre-microRNA	Yes	Human	Berezikov et al, Cell (2005); 120:21–24
	Seed match	Mature microRNA	Yes	Human	Xie, et al, Nature (2005); 434:338–345
miralign	Sequence or structural alignment	Pre-microRNA	No	Animal, plant	Wang, et al, Bioinformatics (2005); 21:3610–3614
ProMiR	Probabilistic model of pairwise sequences	Pre- microRNA and mature microRNA	Yes	Human	Nam et al, Nucleic Acids Res. (2005); 33:3570–3581
PalGrade	Sequential and structural properties	Pre-microRNA	Yes	Human	Bentwich et al, Nat Genet (2005); 37:766–770

Table 1.1: Program for microRNA predication (Adapted from Kim and Nam, 2006)

RNaseIII, Drosha, into pre-microRNA which is around 60-70 nucleotides and contains stem-loop structures (Lee et al., 2003b; Lee et al., 2002). Cleavage of pri-microRNA into pre-microRNA by Drosha requires double stranded RNA binding protein DGCR8 (Gregory et al., 2004; Han et al., 2004; Landthaler et al., 2004). Pre-microRNA is exported from the nucleus into the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 in a Ran-GTPase dependent manner (Lund et al., 2004; Yi et al., 2003).

After pre-microRNA is exported into the cytoplasm, it is cut into a 22nt duplex by another RNase III endonuclease called Dicer (Lee et al., 2003b). Dicer is known to play a role in the RNA interference (RNAi) process (Bernstein et al., 2001) and was later found to be involved in microRNA maturation (Grishok et al., 2001; Hutvagner et al., 2001; Ketting et al., 2001). Dicer can cut the pre-microRNA duplex like the way it does during the RNAi process (reviewed by Bartel, 2004). Double stranded RNA binding protein Loquacious (its homolog is human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) transactivating response RNA-binding protein, TRBP) helps Dicer to cleave pre-microRNA into mature microRNA (Forstemann et al., 2005; Leuschner et al., 2005; Saito et al., 2005; Chendrimada et al., 2005). After Dicer cleavage, only the strand with low stability at its 5' end of the duplex will remain in the microRNA containing RNA induced silencing complex (miRISC) while the other strand disappears quickly (Khvorova et al., 2003; Schwarz et al., 2003). miRISC contains RNA helicase Gemin 3, Gemin 4 and eIF2C2, which is a human homolog of Argonaute (Mourelatos et al., 2002). Once the RISC complex forms, microRNA can guide the complex by binding to the 3' UTR or open reading frame of its target by imprecise base pairing (reviewed by Pillai, 2005).

1.1.6 Mechanism of microRNA action

MicroRNAs can post-transcriptionally regulate their targets by repressing protein translation or accelerating mRNA decay (reviewed by Eulalio et al., 2008; Wu and Belasco, 2008).

MicroRNAs can repress protein translation of their targets in several ways. Firstly, they can inhibit protein translation initiation. Ago2 in the RISC complex has a motif similar to the m(7)G cap-binding domain of eIF4E, which is important for translation initiation. RISC complex can compete with eIF4E for m(7)G cap binding (Kiriakidou et al., 2007). Another possible mechanism for repressing protein translation after cap recognition is through preventing 80S ribosome association. RISC complex contains eIF6, which is an anti-association factor. It can prevent the association of small and large ribosomal subunits (Chendrimada et al., 2007). MicroRNAs also can accelerate nascent polypeptide chain degradation co-translationally on their targets (Nottrott et al., 2006). Finally, microRNAs may inhibit translation elongation by causing ribosome dissociation prematurely (Petersen et al., 2006).

MicroRNAs can also promote mRNA degradation. Some microRNAs in plants have perfect or nearly perfect sequence complementarity to their targets and they can directly cleave their targets in a way similar to siRNA (Rhoades et al., 2002). In animals, most microRNAs regulate their targets by translation repression, but some microRNAs can cause cleavage of their targets. For example, the miR-196 sequence is a nearly perfect match with the sequence of the 3' UTR of the HOXB8 and can cause the cleavage of HOXB8 transcript (Yekta et al., 2004). Argonaute protein in the RISC complex is responsible for microRNA -dependent mRNA cleavage (Liu et al., 2004b; Meister et al., 2004; Okamura et al., 2004).

For those microRNAs whose sequences have only partial complementary to their targets, they may accelerate mRNA degradation by directing removal of 3' poly (A) tail and 5' cap from the mRNA they targeted (Behm-Ansmant et al., 2006; Eulalio et al., 2007c; Giraldez et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2006). Messenger RNA degradation by microRNA requires Argonaute protein and P-body component GW182. The deadenylation is carried out by CAF1-CCR4-NOT deadenylase complex (Behm-Ansmant et al., 2006). The deadenylation and loss of poly (A) binding protein leads to the decapping by Dcp2 complex, which includes several decapping activators such as DCP1, EDC3, Ge-1, and RNA helicase RCK/p54. Then mRNA is subject to 5' to 3' exonucleolytic degradation by Xrn1 (Eulalio et al., 2007c).

A large number of mRNAs that undergo translation repression or degradation are concentrated in cytoplasmic foci that are called processing bodies (P bodies). P bodies contain Argonate proteins, GW182, CAF1-CCR4-NOT deadenylase complex, DCP2 decapping enzyme complex, and other RNA degradation enzymes (reviewed by Eulalio et al., 2007a). Although enzymes in P body are important for microRNA-induced mRNA silencing and degradation, P body is a consequence of silencing instead of a cause (Eulalio et al., 2007b).

1.1.7 Distinctions between siRNA and microRNA

MicroRNAs are small noncoding RNAs around 22 nt that can be detected by northern blot or size-fractionated cDNA cloning. microRNAs are generated by Dicer from one arm of precursors, which are around 60-80nt with stem-loop structures. Their sequences match genomic sequences and are evolutionary conserved (Ambros et al., 2003a). microRNA and siRNA share a lot of similarities such as small size, the same biochemical composition, indistinguishable function and being generated by dicer (Ambros et al., 2003a). The difference between microRNA and siRNA is their origin. microRNAs are from endogenous transcripts of the genome and siRNAs are from exogenous or endogenous dsRNA. microRNAs are cut from one arm of precursors with hairpin structures and siRNAs are cut from dsRNA. Moreover, each microRNA precursor can only yield one copy of a microRNA molecule, but each dsRNA can produce a lot of siRNA molecules. Furthermore, the sequences of microRNAs are generally conserved in different species, while siRNA sequences are not (Ambros et al., 2003a; Bartel, 2004).

1.1.8 Target identification for microRNA

MicroRNAs bind to the 3'UTR of their targets. Number 2-8 nucleotides of microRNAs were found to be crucial for binding to mRNA after analysis of the sequences of microRNAs and their targets. Positions 2-8 of the microRNA, called the 'Seed Region', are usually in perfect Watson-Crick base pairing with their mRNA binding sites (Lewis et al., 2003). The sequences of binding sites in the 3' UTR of mRNAs that are perfectly paired with the 'Seed Region' of a microRNA are conserved between different species and usually flanked with adenosines (Lewis et al., 2005). Some microRNA targets donot have perfect Watson-Crick base pairings with the 5' of microRNAs in their binding sites, but they have



Fig. 1.1: Biogenesis of microRNA

(Adapted from Willams, 2008)

significant complementarity with the 3' sequences of microRNAs (reviewed by Maziere and Enright, 2007; Rajewsky, 2006).

Several bioinformatics tools and databases have been developed to predict microRNA targets in animals. Table 1.2 summarizes online methods and resources available for target prediction (reviewed by Maziere and Enright, 2007; Rajewsky, 2006).

Experimentally there are several ways to identify mRNA targets for microRNAs. Genetic studies found that *lin-14* is the target of *lin-4* (Lee et al., 1993). Since some microRNAs can regulate their targets at the mRNA level, over-expression of a certain microRNA can down-regulate its targets at the mRNA level, which can be detected by microarray (Lim et al., 2005). Inactivation of Drosha in *Drosophila* abolished microRNA production and led to accumulation of some targets for microRNAs, which can also be detected by microarray (Rehwinkel et al., 2006). Knock-out of a certain microRNA genes as well as inhibition of microRNAs by antisense oligonucleotides (ASO) or locked nucleic acids (LNA) also can increase the mRNA level of some microRNA targets (Elmen et al., 2008; Esau et al., 2006; Krutzfeldt et al., 2005). At the protein level, a reporter containing potential microRNA binding sites in the 3'UTR of a luciferase gene can be used to check whether it is a target for a certain microRNA (reviewed by Krutzfeldt et al., 2006).

Name	Website			
microRNA target predictions at EMBL	www.russell.embl-heidelberg.de/microRNAs/			
miRanda	www.microrna.org/microrna/home.do			
mirBase	microrna.sanger.ac.uk/targets/v2/			
PicTar	pictar.bio.nyu.edu			
TargetScan, TargetScanS	genes.mit.edu/targetscan			
Chan et al, 2005	tavazoielab.princeton.edu/microRNAs/			
miTarget	cbit.snu.ac.kr/~miTarget/			
miRDB	mirdb.org/miRDB/index.html			
RNA hybrid	bibiserv.techfak.uni-bielefeld.de/rnahybrid/			
DIANA-MicroT	diana.pcbi.upenn.edu/DIANA-microT			
RNA22	cbcsrv.watson.ibm.com/rna22.html			
Tarbase	www.diana.pcbi.upenn.edu/tarbase.html			
Argonaute	www.ma.uni-heidelberg.de/apps/zmf/argonaute/interface			
microRNAMAP	microRNAmap.mbc.nctu.edu.tw/			

Table 1.2: Online methods and resources for microRNA target predication

(Adapted from Rajewsky, 2006; Mazière and Enright, 2007)

1.1.9 Functions of microRNAs

Despite the small size of microRNAs, they can play very important roles in many physiologic processes and diseases, such as development, metabolism, cell proliferation and differentiation, apoptosis, and cancer.

1.1.9.1 MicroRNA in Cancer

MicroRNAs may act either as oncogenes or tumor suppressors. The miR-17-92 cluster, which includes miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-20a, miR-19b-1, and miR-92-1, can promote cell proliferation, inhibit cancer cell apoptosis, and induce tumor angiogenesis

(reviewed by Mendell, 2008). Proto-onco gene c-Myc can activate the miR-17-92 cluster and E2F1. E2F1 in turn can be negatively regulated by miR-17-5p and miR-20a (O'Donnell et al., 2005). Amplification of products from the miR-17-92 locus was found in human B cell lymphoma and over-expression of the miR-17-92 cluster accelerated tumor progression in c-Myc-induced mouse B cell lymphoma model (He et al., 2005b). The miR-17-92 cluster can also target anti-angiogenic thrombospondin-1 (Tsp1) and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), promoting tumor angiogenesis in a Myc-induced tumor phenotype (Dews et al., 2006).

miR-155 has been found to be involved in Burkitt's lymphoma, Hodgkin lymphoma and lung cancer (reviewed by Williams, 2008). In transgenic mice, miR-155 can promote mouse pre-B cell proliferation (Costinean et al., 2006).

miR-372 and miR-373 have been found working as oncogenes in testicular germ cell tumors (Voorhoeve et al., 2006). These microRNAs can target tumor suppressor LATS2 and abolish p53-mediated CDK inhibition (Voorhoeve et al., 2006).

miR-21 is highly over-expressed in human brain tumors (glioblastomas) (Chan et al., 2005). Several targets for miR-21 have been identified, such as tropomyosin 1 (TPM1), PTEN, programmed cell death 4 (PDCD4), and maspin (Asangani et al., 2008; Chan et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2008; Meng et al., 2007a; Zhu et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2008).

miR-221, miR-222, and miR-146 are highly expressed in papillary thyroid carcinoma (He et al., 2005a). miR-221 and miR-222 can target the cell cycle inhibitor p27(Kip1) and promote cancer cell proliferation (Galardi et al., 2007; Gillies and Lorimer, 2007; le Sage et al., 2007; Visone et al., 2007).

The expression of several microRNAs is reduced in cancer. miR-143 and miR-145 are lower in colorectal neoplasia (Michael et al., 2003). In human breast cancer, miR-125b, miR-145, miR-21, and miR-155 are lower than in normal tissue (Iorio et al., 2005).

Some microRNAs act as tumor suppressors. Chromosome 13q14, where miR-15 and miR-16 are located, was often found to be deleted in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemias (Calin et al., 2002). miR-15 and miR-16 can bind to the 3' UTR of Bcl2 and negatively regulate its function. Over-expression of miR-15 and miR-16 can induce apoptosis (Cimmino et al., 2005).

Tumor suppressor p53 can bind to the promoter of miR-34a and activate its expression, which contributes to p53-mediated apoptosis (Chang et al., 2007; He et al., 2007b; Hermeking, 2007; Raver-Shapira et al., 2007; Tarasov et al., 2007). miR-34a induced growth arrest and apoptosis may be due to targeting E2F3 (Tazawa et al., 2007; Welch et al., 2007).

miR-29 and miR-181 can target oncogene Tcl1 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Pekarsky et al., 2006). miR-29 was also reported to target Mcl1 and regulate cell apoptosis (Mott et al., 2007).

Hmga2 (high mobitilty group AT-hook 2) is repressed by *let-7* and disruption of this repression caused by chromosome translocation at 12q5 will lead to tumor formation (Lee and Dutta, 2007; Mayr et al., 2007). *let-7* can also down-regulate other oncogenes, such as RAS and Myc (Johnson et al., 2005; Sampson et al., 2007). *let-7* has been reported to be involved in many cancers, including breast cancer, ovarian cancer, lung cancer, and colon cancer (Akao et al., 2006; Esquela-Kerscher et al., 2008; Kumar et al., 2008; Lu et al., 2007;

Park et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2007).

1.1.9.2 MicroRNA in metabolism

miR-375 is highly expressed in pancreas and it regulates insulin secretion. Over-expression of miR-375 inhibits insulin secretion and inhibition of miR-375 can enhance insulin exocytosis (Poy et al., 2004). The action of miR-375 may be through targeting myotrophin (Poy et al., 2004). High expression of miR-9 in pancreatic beta cells will reduce the expression of the transcription factor Onecut-2 and result in increasing granuphilin/Slp4 and reducing insulin exocytosis (Plaisance et al., 2006). miR-96 can increase both the mRNA and protein of granuphilin and inhibit insulin secretion (Lovis et al., 2008). Another microRNA, miR-124a, can modulate the expression of proteins involved in insulin exocytosis and regulate insulin secretion in pancreatic beta-cells (Lovis et al., 2008). miR-143 is up-regulated during pre-adipocytes differentiation and inhibition of miR-143 blocks adipogenesis (Esau et al., 2004). miR-29 is highly up-regulated in diabetic rats and leads to insulin resistance in adipocytes (He et al., 2007a). miR-29 can also target the dihydrolipoamide branched chain acyltransferase component of a branch chain amino acid catabolism enzyme complex, branched chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase (BCKD) complex and regulate amino acid metabolism (Mersey et al., 2005).

Drosophila lacking miR-278 are insulin resistant and lean. The effect of miR-278 may be through targeting *expanded* (Teleman et al., 2006). Flies with miR-14 deletion have increased levels of triacylglycerol and diacylglycerol (Xu et al., 2003).

Liver miR-122 can regulate cholesterol and fatty acid metabolism. Inhibition of miR-122 resulted in a decrease of hepatic fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis and plasma cholesterol level and an increase of hepatic fatty acid oxidation (Esau et al., 2006).

1.1.9.3 MicroRNA in muscle function and development

MicroRNAs can regulate cardiac and skeletal muscle differentiation (reviewed by Bushati and Cohen, 2007; Callis and Wang, 2008; Williams, 2008). miR-1 is specifically expressed in cardiac and skeletal muscle cells at a high level and its expression is under the control of several muscle transcription factors such as serum response factor (SRF), MyoD, and Mef2 (Zhao et al., 2005). Over-expression of miR-1 in heart causes defects in ventricular cardiomyocytes proliferation (Zhao et al., 2005). miR-1 can target Hand2, a transcription factor that promotes cardiomyocytes differentiation (Zhao et al., 2005). miR-1-2 knock out mice have nearly 50% lethality by the age of weaning and there are defects in hearts, revealing the role of miR-1-2 in cardiac morphogenesis, electrical conduction, and cell-cycle control (Zhao et al., 2007). miR-1 is over-expressed in coronary artery disease patients and over-expression of miR-1 exacerbates arrhythmogenesis in a rat model (Yang et al., 2007). Two molecules important for heart function, KCNJ2 (potassium inwardly-rectifying channel, subfamily J, member 2) and GJA1 (gap junction protein, alpha 1, 43kDa) are targets for miR-1 (Yang et al., 2007). miR-1 can also target histone deacetylase 4 (HDAC4), a transcriptional repressor of muscle gene expression and promotes myogenesis (Chen et al., 2006).

miR-133 is transcribed as a single polycistronic transcript along with miR-1. miR-133 can promote myoblast proliferation by targeting serum response factor (SRF) (Chen et al., 2006). miR-133 can also down-regulate the protein level of alternative splicing factor nPTB during muscle development, leading to increased inclusion of a group of exons silenced by nPTB (Boutz et al., 2007). miR-133 is over-expressed in a rabbit model of diabetes and it can repress ether-a-go-go related gene (ERG) at the protein level, contributing to long QT syndrome and arrhythmias (Xiao et al., 2007). The expression of miR-133 and miR-1 is lower in cardiac hypertrophy, in agreement with the results that inhibition of miR-133 *in vivo* by antagomir causes cardiac hypertrophy. RhoA, Cdc42 and Nelf-A/WHSC2, which are important regulators in cardiac hypertrophy, are targets of miR-133 (Care et al., 2007).

miR-208 is encoded in an intron of α -MHC gene and miR-208 null mice failed to show cardiac hypertrophy and induction of β -MHC in cardiac hypertrophy model. These effects may be due to inhibition of thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein 1 (Thrap1) by miR-208 at the protein level (van Rooij et al., 2007).

miR-206 is highly expressed in skeletal muscle and plays an important role in myogenesis (reviewed by McCarthy, 2008). MyoD can activate miR-206, which in turn targets follistatin-like 1 (Fstl1) and utrophin (Utrn) (Rosenberg et al., 2006). During skeletal muscle development, miR-206 regulates connexin43 expression (Anderson et al., 2006).

1.1.9.4 MicroRNA in Neurogenesis

miR-124 is highly and specifically expressed in differentiated neurons. miR-124 can
directly target polypyrimidine tract binding protein 1 (PTB or PTBP1), which is a general repressor of alternative mRNA slicing (Makeyev et al., 2007). One exon of nPTB (neuronal PTB or PTBP2), which is a nervous system-enriched PTB homolog, is repressed by PTB and this repression leads to premature stop of nPTB mRNA. During neuronal differentiation, the switch from PTB to nPTB triggers a wide range of nervous system specific mRNA alternative splicing patterns. miR-124 can lower PTB levels and lead to accumulation of nPTB, which will repress non-neuronal gene expression and increase neuronal-specific gene expression (Makeyev et al., 2007).

Besides PTB, miR-124 can target anti-neural REST/SCP1 pathway during embryonic CNS development to regulate neural specific gene expression (Visvanathan et al., 2007). REST (RE1-silencing transcription factor, also known as NRSF) is a transcription repressor that can inhibit the expression of neuronal-specific genes in non-neuronal cells. SCP1 (Small C-terminal domain phosphatase 1) is an anti-neuronal factor that is recruited by REST to bind to neuronal specific genes. miR-124 is repressed by REST in non-neuronal cells and neural progenitors (Conaco et al., 2006). On the contrary, miR-124 can bind to the 3'UTR of SCP1 and down-regulate SCP1 levels, leading to expression of neuronal specific genes that are repressed by REST/SCP1 (Visvanathan et al., 2007).

miR-134 is expressed in hippocampal neurons and it inhibits the growth of dendritic spines (Schratt et al., 2006). The effect is mediated through inhibition of Limk1, a protein kinase that controls spine development (Schratt et al., 2006).

miR-181a is highly up-regulated in CD4 and CD8 double positive (DP) T-lymphocytes and lower in mature T-lymphocytes, suggesting its role in the process of positive and negative selection (Li et al., 2007). miR-181a increases the sensitivity of DP cells to peptide antigens and inhibition of miR-181 impairs both positive and negative selections. miR-181 can lower the threshold of T-cell receptor activation in immature T-lymphocytes by down-regulating several phosphatases, leading to increase of basal levels of Lck (Lymphocyte specific protein tyrosine kinase) and ERK (Extracellular signal regulated kinase) (Li et al., 2007).

miR-155 plays an important role in immune functions. miR-155 knock-out mice were immunodeficiency and showed increased lung airway remodeling (Rodriguez et al., 2007). miR-155 can target the transcription factor c-Maf and loss of miR-155 results in up-regulation of c-Maf, which will increase cytokine IL-4 and T helper-2 cell number (Rodriguez et al., 2007). miR-155 null mice also showed decreased B-lymphocytes in the germinal centers, where B-lymphocytes differentiated into plasma cells (Thai et al., 2007). T-cell dependent antibody production is impaired in miR-155 null mice (Thai et al., 2007).

miR-146 can negatively regulate NF- κ B pathway by targeting TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) and IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK1). Since miR-146 is up-regulated upon stimulation, it is proposed that miR-146 works as a negative feedback signal in innate immune response (Taganov et al., 2006).

Human granulocytic differentiation is regulated by miR-223 (Fazi et al., 2005). Two transcription factors, NFI-A and C/EBPα, compete for binding to the miR-223 promoter. NFI-A maintains a low expression of miR-223 while C/EBPα up-regulates miR-223 expression upon retinoic acid treatment. miR-223 in turn represses NFI-A translation (Fazi et al., 2005). Over-expression of miR-223 in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) cells enhance differentiation, while knock-down of miR-223 inhibits retinoic acid induced differentiation (Fazi et al., 2005).

1.1.9.7 MicroRNA in Human diseases

MicroRNAs were reported to be involved in several human diseases (reviewed by Bushati and Cohen, 2007). For example, in the neuropsychiatric disorder Tourette's syndrome (TS), there are mutations in the miR-189 binding site of the 3'UTR of Slit and Trk-like 1 (SLITRK1) gene. Also SLITRK1 and miR-189 show co-expression pattern in the brain regions commonly implicated in Tourette's syndrome. It is suggested miR-189 may be involved in Tourette's syndrome (Abelson et al., 2005).

A mutation in the 3'UTR of myostatin (GDF8) gene yields a binding site for miR-1 and miR-206. This mutation causes translation inhibition of myostatin and leads to muscular hypertrophy in Texel sheep (Clop et al., 2006).

Fragile X syndrome is a common form of inherited mental retardation. It is caused by methylation induced gene silence of the fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1) gene as the result of a CGG repeat expansion in its 5'UTR (reviewed by O'Donnell and Warren, 2002).

Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) is a selective RNA-binding protein and it interacts with microRNAs, RISC complex components dicer and argonaute 1 (Jin et al., 2004). Genetic evidence showed loss of Ago1 suppressed apoptosis and rough eye phenotype caused by over-expression of FMR1 in *Drosophila* (Jin et al., 2004). Pronounced synaptic overgrowth at neuromuscular junctions was found in loss-of-function dFmr1 mutants and it is exacerbated by heterozygous loss of Ago1 (Jin et al., 2004). These results suggest FMRP mediates microRNA-dependent translation repression and defects in this process may contribute to Fragile X syndrome disease.

Polyglutamine (polyQ) expansion of ataxin 3 causes cell toxicity and results in neuronal degeneration. Deleption of Dicer1, the enzyme responsible for microRNA processing, caused dramatic enhancement of polyQ toxicity in *Drosophila* and human cells (Bilen et al., 2006). MicroRNA *bantam* (*ban*) can prevent neuronal degeneration in flies (Bilen et al., 2006). miR-8 can directly target atrophin in *Drosophila* and elevated atrophin activity in miR-8 mutant results in elevated apoptosis in the brain and behavioral defects (Karres et al., 2007). miR-8 and atrophin orthologs are conserved in mammals and it implicates miR-8 may function in neurodegenerative disorder DRPLA (Dentatorubral-pallidoluysian atrophy) (Karres et al., 2007).

Most of DiGeorge syndrome patients have a deletion in chromosomal region 22q11, where DGCR8 (involved in Drosha function) is located (Gregory et al., 2004; Lindsay, 2001), but the exact microRNA involved in DiGeorge remains to be elucidated. Some nuclear DNA viruses can express microRNAs to help them live in host cells. Simian virus 40 (SV40) can express microRNAs that target viral T antigens at a late stage of infection, reducing exposure of host cells to cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (Sullivan et al., 2005). Reciprocally, host cells may use microRNAs to defend against viruses. miR-32 can effectively restrict the accumulation of the retrovirus primate foamy virus type 1 (PFV-1) in human cells through targeting viral mRNAs (Lecellier et al., 2005).

1.1.9.9 MicroRNA in C. elegans development

lin-4 was the first microRNA discovered in *C. elegans* and it can regulate L1-L2 development by binding to the 3'UTR of *lin-14* (Lee et al., 1993; Wightman et al., 1993). Without *lin-4*, worms cannot develop from the L1 to L2 stage due to differentiation defects. Over-expression of *lin-4* results in complete loss of cell division of larval stem cells. In both situations, the worms were stuck at L1 stage (reviewed by Williams, 2008).

L2-L3 transition is regulated by miR-48, miR-84, and miR-241. They may bind to the 3'UTR of *hbl-1* and down-regulate *hbl-1* activity (Abbott et al., 2005). *let-7* regulates the larval to adult transition by targeting *lin-41* (Reinhart et al., 2000). *let-7* and miR-84 were also reported to be involved in the vulval development (Johnson et al., 2005). *let-7* mutants have defects in the vulva. It may due to loss of *let-7*'s inhibition on *let-60/RAS*, which can promote the vulva formation (Johnson et al., 2005).

MicroRNA lsy-6 and miR-273 act in a double negative feedback loop controlling

neuronal asymmetry in *C. elegans* (reviewed by Bushati and Cohen, 2007). MicroRNA *lsy-6* binds to the 3'UTR of homeobox gene *cog-1* and regulates its expression. Loss of *lsy-6* resulted in loss of asymmetry of bilateral taste receptor neurons known as ASE left and ASE right, only developing ASE right neuron (Johnston and Hobert, 2003). *Die-1* can activate *lsy-6* expression in ASE left neuron and *Die-1* itself is negatively regulated by another microRNA miR-273 in ASE right neuron (Chang et al., 2004). miR-273 is activated by *cog-1* in ASE right neuron (Johnston et al., 2005). Thus, two transcription factors *Die-1* and *cog-1* and two microRNAs work together to control the development of ASE neurons.

1.1.9.10 MicroRNA in Drosophila Development

Expression of the microRNA *bantam* is temporally and spatially regulated during patterning in *Drosophila*. *bantam* can promote cell proliferation by targeting the pro-apoptosis factor *hid* (Brennecke et al., 2003).

Loss of function studies using 2'O-methyl antisense oligo ribonucleotides injected into embryos reveal that the miR-2 family, which includes miR-2, miR-6, miR-11, miR-13, and miR-308, plays a role in suppressing embryonic apoptosis by targeting *hid, grim, reaper*, and *sickle* (Leaman et al., 2005). Loss of miR-31 in embryos results in severe segmentation defects (Leaman et al., 2005). Block of the miR-310/311/312/313/92 family in embryos shows morphogenetic defects (Leaman et al., 2005).

Embryos with miR-9 inhibitor injection rarely form any cuticle and have no internal differentiation (Leaman et al., 2005). miR-9a can also control the formation of sensory

organ precursors (SOPs) in the adult wing imaginal disc through targeting *senseless* (*sens*). Over-expression of miR-9a results in a severe loss of SOPs while loss of miR-9a in *Drosophila* peripheral nervous system leads to ectopic production of SOPs (Li et al., 2006).

miR-1 regulates the expansion and differentiation of cardiac and muscle progenitor cells in *Drosophila* through targeting transcripts encoding the Notch ligand *Delta* (Kwon et al., 2005).

Drosophila microRNA *iab-4*, which is homologous to miR-196 in vertebrates, can directly inhibit *Ubx* activity and cause a dominant homeotic transformation of halteres to wings (Ronshaugen et al., 2005)

miR-7 regulates photoreceptor cell differentiation (Li and Carthew, 2005). Transcription factor Yan can bind to the promoter of miR-7 and suppresses its expression in progenitor cells. Yan is phosphorylated in EGF (epidermal growth factor) signalling pathway and phosphorylated Yan activates miR-7 expression during the differentiation of progenitor cells into photoreceptor cells. Furthermore, miR-7 can down-regulate *Yan* through binding to its 3' UTR (Li and Carthew, 2005).

1.1.9.11 MicroRNA in Vertebrate Development

Dicer is required for generating mature microRNAs and knock-out of Dicer reveals the role of microRNAs in vertebrate development (reviewed by Williams, 2008). Dicer-deficient mice are embryonic lethal with lack of detectable multipotent stem cells (Murchison et al., 2005). Dicer-null mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells have severe defects in differentiation (Kanellopoulou et al., 2005).

Using Dicer null conditional knock-out mice as a model, it was shown that Dicer is involved in the development of many tissues. In mice with epidermal specific Dicer deletion, hair follicles were stunted and hypoproliferative, suggesting Dicer is important for hair follicle morphogenesis (Andl et al., 2006).

Dicer conditional knock-out driven by the Sonic Hedgehog (Shh) promoter in the mouse lung epithelium showed branching arrests in the mutant lungs (Harris et al., 2006). Also the expression of Fgf10, a key factor that may work as a chemoattractant for the outgrowth of epithelial branches, is up-regulated and expanded in the mesenchyme cells of Dicer mutant lungs (Harris et al., 2006).

Dicer is also involved in angiogenesis. Dicer null mice have defects in blood vessel and yolk sacs. The expression of some important angiogenic regulators such as vegf, flt1, kdr, and tie1 is changed in the mutant embryos (Yang et al., 2005). These results may be due to up-regulation of some microRNA targets that are crucial for angiogenesis in dicer null mice.

Deletion of Dicer at an early stage of T cell development reduced the survival of $\alpha\beta$ T cells, but the numbers of $\gamma\delta$ -expressing thymocytes were not affected (Cobb et al., 2005).

Conditional knock-out of Dicer in limb mesoderm resulted in much smaller limbs due to massive cell death in limbs, but there is no defect in patterning and differentiation of the mouse limbs (Harfe et al., 2005). Furthermore, miR-196 has been shown to act upstream of Hoxb8 and Shh during limb development (Hornstein et al., 2005). Retinoic acid (RA) can induce the expression of the transcription factor Hoxb8 and consequently up-regulates the expression of Sonic Hedgehog (Shh) in the forelimb, but not in the hindlimb. However, in

Dicer conditional knock out mice, RA can induce expression of Hoxb8 in hindlimb. This result suggest that a microRNA negatively regultes Hoxb8 in hindlimb. miR-196 is highly expressed in hindlimb and it can down-regulte Hoxb8 and Shh level in hindlimb (Hornstein et al., 2005). The role of miR-196 is safeguarding excessive Hoxb8 level during normal limb development (Hornstein et al., 2005).

1.2 Adipogenesis

Adipogenesis is the process of preadipocyte differentiation into a mature fat cell. Adipose tissue is not only a structural component of the body and a place for energy storage, but also an important regulator of energy homeostasis through secreting signal molecules such as leptin and adipsin (reviewed by Rosen and Spiegelman, 2000). Investigation of adipogenesis is important to understand human diseases such as obesity and type II diabetes; both are frequent in modern society.

There are two types of adipocytes, white adipocytes and brown adipocytes. White adipocyte differentiation is intensively studied *in vitro* in several cell lines. Some preadipocytes cell lines can be differentiated into mature adipocytes through hormonal induction. Mature adipocytes have many characteristics different from preadipocytes such as morphological changes, cell growth arrest, increased lipid transportation and synthesis, extensive lipid accumulation, insulin sensitivity, and secretion of adipocyte specific proteins (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2000).

1.2.1 Differentiation program

There are several *in vitro* models for the study of adipogenesis. Embryonic stem (ES) cells can be differentiated into adipocytes upon retinoic acid and pro-adipogenic hormone treatment. Also mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) at E12-14 can be induced into adipocytes, although it is less than 100 percent efficient, after hormone treatment. Most immortalized MEFs that were generated through serial passaging or SV40 large T antigen introduction or chemical treatment can not differentiate into adipocytes without introduction of transcription factors such as PPAR γ or C/EBP α . However, two cell lines 3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A can be differentiated into mature adipocytes upon addition of an hormonal cocktail containing dexamethasone, cAMP phosphodiesterase inhibitor, and insulin treatment. The C3H10T1/2 cell line is an immortalized mouse cell line isolated from mesenchymal cells in bone marrow and it can also be differentiated into adipocytes (reviewed by Rosen and MacDougald, 2006).

3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A cells are from Swiss 3T3 cells that are morphologically indistinguishable from mouse fibroblasts, but they are capable of differentiating into adipocytes in 4-6 days upon hormonal induction (Green and Meuth, 1974). This process has been intensively studied. The first stage of most pre-adipocyte cell lines differentiation is growth arrest upon contact inhibition. Then, cells enter the second phase called clonal expansion in which the cell cycle goes one or two rounds upon treatment of a pro-differentiative cocktail containing insulin, dexamethasone, and cAMP agonist. After clonal expansion, cells enter final and permanent growth arrest. After that, cells go to terminal differentiation into mature adipocytes (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2000).

The pre-adipocyte differentiation program is characterized by the expression of different genes. After hormonal inducer treatment, there is a rapid and transient induction of C/EBPβ and C/EBP_δ (reviewed by Darlington et al., 1998). Following that, two key transcription factors, PPAR γ and C/EBP α , are expressed right at the end of the clonal expansion stage and may help to stop cell cycles. During the final cell growth arrest, the expression of the catalytic subunit of the serine-threonine phosphatase PP2A decreases, which results in up-regulation of the phosphorylated form of DP-1. DP-1 is the binding partner of E2F family members that can control cell cycles. Phosophorylation of DP-1 decreases E2F/DP-1 binding to DNA (Altiok et al., 1997). E2Fs can regulate adipocyte differentiation. Loss of E2F1 impairs adipogenesis, while deletion of E2F4 causes MEFs to undergo spontaneous differentiation (Fajas et al., 2002). Retinoblastoma (Rb) protein can bind to some E2Fs and inhibit their transcription activity (reviewed by Harbour and Dean, 2000). Rb-null MEFs lost their ability to differentiate into adipocytes (Chen et al., 1996). The expression changes of several cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p18, p21, and p27 directly couple to differentiation stages during 3T3-L1 differentiation. PPARy can increase the expression of p18 and p21 in NIH-3T3 fibroblasts (Morrison and Farmer, 1999). C/EBPa also can up-regulate p21 through increasing p21 gene expression and by post-translational stabilization of p21 protein (Timchenko et al., 1996). Increased expression of PPARy and C/EBPa will lead to expression of adipocyte specific genes that characterize the mature adipocyte. These genes are involved in insulin sensitivity, such as insulin receptor and glucose transporter glut4, and lipid accumulation, such as fatty acid synthase (FAS), lipoprotein lipase (LPL), acetyl CoA carboxylase and fatty acid binding protein (aP2). Also

there are secreted products such as leptin, adipsin, and adiponectin (reviewed by Rosen, 2005).

1.2.2 Transcription factors regulating adipogenesis

1.2.2.1 PPARy

Pre-adipocyte differentiation is regulated by many transcription factors both in positive and negative ways. PPAR γ and C/EBP family members are critical for adipocyte differentiation. PPAR γ is a nuclear receptor family member and it heterodimerizes with retinoid X receptor (RXR) (Kliewer et al., 1994). There are two isoforms of PPAR γ , PPAR γ 1, and PPAR γ 2, produced by differential splicing and promoter usage. PPAR γ 1 is expressed in adipocytes and other cells, while PPAR γ 2 is extensively expressed in adipocytes. Ectopic expression of PPAR γ 2 has been shown to stimulate adipose differentiation of cultured fibroblasts (Tontonoz et al., 1994). Also, PPAR γ is required for development of adipocytes both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Barak et al., 1999; Rosen et al., 1999). Both isoforms of PPAR γ can activate adipogenesis in PPAR γ null fibroblasts, while PPAR γ 1 has stronger activity than PPAR γ 2 (Mueller et al., 2002). PPAR γ 2 knock out mice lack normal white adipose tissue and MEF cells lose the ability to differentiate into adipocytes (Zhang et al., 2004a). Another study showed there is normal adipose tissue, but insulin resistance is developed in PPAR γ 2 null mice (Medina-Gomez et al., 2005).

PPAR γ is important not only for adipocyte differentiation, but also for maintaining adipocyte phenotype. Transfection of mature 3T3-L1 adipocyte with a dominant negative

form of PPAR γ will reverse the adipocyte phenotype with decreased triglyceride content and adipocyte-specific genes (Tamori et al., 2002). Also *in vivo* experiments showed that mature PPAR γ -null white and brown adipocytes die within a few days after induction of PPAR γ deletion (Imai et al., 2004).

Thiazolidinedione (TZD) is a class of antidiabetic drugs that can bind to and potently activate PPARγ (Lehmann et al., 1995). Also, 15-deoxy-delta 12,14-PGJ2 (Prostaglandins J2) and some polyunsaturated fatty acids can activate PPARγ (Forman et al., 1997; Forman et al., 1995; Kliewer et al., 1995; Kliewer et al., 1997).

PPAR γ is a key factor in adipogenesis. Other pro-adipogenic factors such as C/EBPs and several Krüppel-like factors can induce, while some anti-adipogenic factors such as GATA factors can repress, PPAR γ expression (reviewed by Rosen and MacDougald, 2006).

1.2.2.2 C/EBP family

CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP) family members C/EBP α , C/EBP β , C/EBP γ , C/EBP δ , and C/EBP ζ are expressed in adipocytes. The expression of C/EBP β and C/EBP δ is up-regulated during the early stage and dereased during the late stage of adipogenesis. The accumulation of C/EBP β and C/EBP δ leads to induction of C/EBP α in a transcription cascade. These C/EBPs can promote adipogenesis (reviewed by Rosen and MacDougald, 2006).

Ectopic expression of C/EBP β in 3T3-L1 cells enables them to differentiate into mature adipocyte in the absence of hormonal inducers. C/EBP β expression converts NIH-3T3 cells into pre-adipocytes. Over-expression of dominant negative forms of C/EBP β inhibits 3T3-L1 differentiation (Yeh et al., 1995). MEFs from C/EBP β knock-out mice significantly lose their ability to differentiate into mature adipocytes compared to that from wild type mice, while C/EBP δ knock-out MEFs only have a slight reduction in differentiation potential. MEFs that lack both C/EBP β and C/EBP δ almost totally lose their ability to differentiate, suggesting C/EBP β and C/EBP δ have synergic effects on pre-adipocyte differentiation (Tanaka et al., 1997). Approximately 85% of newborn C/EBP β and C/EBP δ double knock out mice die at an early stage. For those that survive, they have less lipid accumulation in the brown adipose tissue and their white adipose tissue is significantly smaller than wild type (Tanaka et al., 1997).

In vitro and in vivo evidence has shown C/EBP α can promote adipogenesis. Ectopic expression of C/EBP α in a variety of mouse fibroblasts efficiently induces adipogenic differentiation, while repression of C/EBP α by RNAi blocks 3T3-L1 differentiation (Freytag et al., 1994; Lin and Lane, 1992; Lin and Lane, 1994). C/EBP α knock-out mice die right after birth due to defects in gluconeogenesis in the liver. Rescue of C/EBP α in the liver with a transgene in C/EBP α knock-out mice will improve survival. In these mice, white adipose tissue, not brown adipose tissue, is severely impaired (Linhart et al., 2001). Replacement of C/EBP α gene with C/EBP β gene in mice resulted in a significant reduction of fat storage in white adipose tissue (Chen et al., 2000). C/EBP α -induced adipogenesis relys on PPAR γ . PPAR γ can induce adipogenesis in C/EBP α deficient cells while the reverse is not true (Rosen et al., 2002). In PPAR γ -deficient MEFs, C/EBP β is not able to induce C/EBP α expression and adipogenesis (Zuo et al., 2006).

C/EBP ζ (also known as CHOP, C/EBP homologous protein) can dimerize with C/EBP α

and C/EBP β and inhibit their function, markedly inhibiting preadipocyte differentiation (Batchvarova et al., 1995).

1.2.2.3 Kruppel-like Factor family

The Krüppel-like Factor (KLF) family are zinc-finger transcription factors that are important regulators of cell differentiation. KLFs can either play a positive role or a negative role in adipogenesis.

Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) is an essential early regulator of adipogenesis. KLF4 is specifically induced by cAMP within 30 min after DMI (dexamethasone, IBMX and insulin) treatment in 3T3-L1 cells. KLF4 directly binds to the C/EBPβ promoter and activates its expression. Knock-down of KLF4 down-regulates C/EBPβ levels and inhibits 3T3-L1 cell adipogenesis. Normally, C/EBPβ suppresses Krox20 and KLF4 expression and C/EBPβ knock-down increases the expression of KLF4 and Krox20. Thus, KLF4 and C/EBPβ form a negative feedback loop (Birsoy et al., 2008).

C/EBP β and C/EBP δ can bind to the KLF5 promoter and activate its expression. KLF5, in turn, binds to the PPAR γ 2 promoter and activates its expression along with C/EBPs. Over-expression of KLF5 induces adipocyte differentiation in the absence of hormonal stimulation while over-expression of a dominant-negative form of KLF5 inhibits adipocyte differentiation. MEFs from KLF5 heterozygous mice show reduced adipocyte differentiation, which is consistent with the fact that heterozygous KLF5 knockout mice have a marked deficiency in white adipose tissue development (Mori et al., 2005). KLF6 has been shown to be a repressor of the Delta-like 1 (Dlk1) gene, which inhibits adipocyte differentiation. Down-regulation of KLF6 by small interfering RNA inhibits 3T3-L1 cells adipogenesis (Li et al., 2005).

KLF15 can activate PPAR γ 2 expression and promote adipocyte differentiation (Mori et al., 2005). KLF15 also can activate the expression of the glucose transporter GLUT4 in adipose (Gray et al., 2002).

KLF3 knockout mice have less white adipose tissue and the adipocytes are smaller and fewer in their fat pads, indicating KLF3 regulates adipocyte differentiation (Sue et al., 2008).

However, some KLFs can inhibit preadipocytes differentiation. KLF2 is highly expressed in preadipocytes but not in mature adipocytes. KLF2 inhibits adipogenesis by binding to the PPAR γ promoter and repressing its expression (Banerjee et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2005). Over-expression of KLF7 also reduces 3T3-L1 cell differentiation (Kanazawa et al., 2005a).

1.2.2.4 Other factors

Other transcription factors also regulate adipogenesis. Krox20 is a zinc finger-containing transcription factor that is up-regulated during the early stage of differentiation. It activates C/EBP β expression and promotes 3T3-L1 differentiation (Chen et al., 2005b).

The early B cell factor (Ebf) family of helix-loop-helix transcription factors can also promote adipogenesis. PPAR γ 1 and C/EBP α can be activated by Ebf1, which is induced by

C/EBP β and C/EBP δ . siRNA against Ebf1 and Ebf2 blocks 3T3-L1 differentiation (Jimenez et al., 2007). SREBP1c (sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c) is important for lipid metabolism and it also regulates adipocyte differentiation. A dominant-negative form of SREBP1c represses 3T3-L1 cells' differentiation (Kim and Spiegelman, 1996). SREBP1c maybe responsible for producing an endogenous ligand for PPAR γ and activates its activity (Kim et al., 1998).

Ectopic expression of STAT5A promotes adipogenesis in two non-precursor fibroblast cell lines by regulating PPAR γ expression (Floyd and Stephens, 2003; Nanbu-Wakao et al., 2002). The Active form of CREB can promote adipogenesis by binding to C/EBP β promoter and inducing its expression (Zhang et al., 2004b). MEFs from BMAL1 (Brain and muscle Arnt-like protein-1) knock-out mice lose their ability to differentiate into adipocytes, suggesting BMAL is required for adipogenesis (Shimba et al., 2005). Also EPAS1(endothelial PAS domain protein 1, also known as hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha) has been shown to promote adipose differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells (Shimba et al., 2004).

GATA-2 and GATA-3 are specifically expressed in white adipocyte precursors, but not in mature adipocytes. Constitutive expression of GATA-2 and GATA-3 keeps preadipocytes from differentiating into adipocytes, while depletion of GATA-3 increases adipocyte differentiation (Tong et al., 2000). Inhibition of adipogenesis by GATA may be through repression of PPAR γ expression or binding to C/EBP α and C/EBP β (Tong et al., 2000; Tong et al., 2005).

1.2.3 Signalling pathway regulating adipogenesis

1.2.3.1 Insulin and IGF1 pathway

Insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) are very important regulators of adipogenesis. IGF1 from fetal calf serum works together with insulin to activate IGF receptor, which is more abundant than insulin receptors in pre-adipocytes. The number of insulin receptors increases during preadipocytes differentiation (Smith et al., 1988). The signal passes along insulin receptor substrate (IRS), phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K), and activates AKT/PKB (protein kinase B) (reviewed by Rosen and MacDougald, 2006). Insulin signaling pathway may activate CREB to promote adipogenesis (Klemm et al., 2001). Also insulin signalling can cause phosphorylation and nuclear exportation of adipogenic inhibitors FOXA2 and FOXO1 (Nakae et al., 2003; Wolfrum et al., 2003). In the insulin signalling pathway, GATA2, which is an adipogenesis inhibitor, is also phosphorylated and inactivated (Menghini et al., 2005). Moreover, insulin signaling pathway can repress the expression of necdin, which in turn releases the repression of PPARγ (Tseng et al., 2005).

1.2.3.2 Glucocorticoid Receptor

Dexamethasone is the most commonly used glucocorticoid to stimulate preadipocyte differentiation. The action of dexamethasone is through the nuclear receptor glucocorticoid receptor (GR) (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2000). Glucocorticoids may have a direct role on C/EBPδ induction, which will further activate PPARγ along with C/EBPβ (Cao et al., 1991;

Wu et al., 1996). Also glucocorticoids can repress the expression of the anti-adipogenic gene pref-1 (Smas et al., 1999).

1.2.3.3 FGF family

Fibroblast growth factor 1 (FGF-1) secreted by adipose-derived microvascular endothelial cells (MVECs) can promote proliferation and differentiation of human pre-adipocytes, which lack FGF-1 expression. FGF-1 is expressed in 3T3-L1 cells and treatment of 3T3-L1 cells with FGF-1 antibody decreases their adipogenic potential (Hutley et al., 2004; Newell et al., 2006). FGF-2 (also called basic fibroblast growth factor) enhances adipogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells and adipose-derived stem cells (Kakudo et al., 2007; Neubauer et al., 2004). FGF10 signalling induces the expression of C/EBP β and the subsequent adipogenic differentiation in preadipocytes. In FGF10 knock-out mice, the expression of C/EBP β is reduced and the development of white adipose tissue is impaired (Sakaue et al., 2002).

1.2.3.4 MAPK pathway

The mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs), which include ERK, p38 and JNK, play both positive and negative roles in regulating adipogenesis (reviewed by Bost et al., 2005). MEF cells from ERK1 knock-out mice or 3T3-L1 cells lacking ERK1 have impaired adipogenic potential, suggesting ERK1 is required for adipogenesis. On the other hand, ERK1 can phosphorylate PPARγ and decrease its activity (Camp and Tafuri, 1997; Hu et al.,

1996).

Inhibitors of p38 MAP kinase prevent 3T3-L1 fibroblasts and C3H10T1/2 cells from differentiation into adipocytes, suggesting p38 MAP kinases are required for adipogenic differentiation of these preadipocyte cell lines (Engelman et al., 1998; Hata et al., 2003). However, p38 null embryonic stem cells have stronger potential to differentiate into adipocyte than wild type ES cells, indicating it has a negative role in adipogenesis (Aouadi et al., 2006). These controversial results may be due to MAP kinases playing varied roles at different differential stages or in different cell types.

1.2.3.5 TGFβ family

Transforming growth factor β (TGF β) family members, including TGF β and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), play a role in regulating adipogenesis. Ligand binding induces dimerization and phosphorylation of TGF β recetprs, which further phosphorylates R-Smad (from Smad1 to Smad5). Phosphorylated R-Smad binds to Smad4 and translocates into the nucleus (reviewed by Roelen and Dijke, 2003). TGF- β inhibits adipocyte differentiation in preadipocyte cell lines, which is in agreement with *in vivo* data showing that adipocyte differentiation is significantly inhibited in TGF- β transgenic mice (Choy et al., 2000; Clouthier et al., 1997). Smad3, which is a component of the TGF- β pathway, inhibits adipogenesis by interacting with C/EBP β and C/EBP δ and repressing their activity (Choy and Derynck, 2003).

Low concentration of BMP2 promotes adipocyte development, while high concentration

of BMP2 induces chondrocytes and osteoblasts differentiation (Wang et al., 1993). BMP-2 stimulation may lead to nuclear translocation of Schnurri-2 (Shn-2), which will activate PPAR γ 2 expression through direct interaction with both Smad1/4 and C/EBP α (Jin et al., 2006). Another BMP member, BMP4 has been shown to be involved in preadipocytes determination (reviewed by Bowers and Lane, 2007).

1.2.3.6 Wnt signalling

The Wnt family, which is an evolutionarily conserved family of secreted glycoproteins, plays a big role in regulating adipogenesis. Wnt10b, Wnt10a, and Wnt6 are expressed in preadipocytes. They can bind to transmembrane frizzled receptors and activate the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, which will lead to inhibition of GSK3 β and cause hypophosphorylation and stabilization of β -catenin in the cytoplasm. Following that, β -Catenin is translocated into the nucleus and binds to TCF/LEF transcription factors to inhibit preadipocyte differentiation (reviewed by Prestwich and Macdougald, 2007). FABP4-Wnt10b transgenic mice have approximately 50% less total body fat compared to wild type (Longo et al., 2004). Conditional deletion of β -catenin in the myometrium converts it to adipose tissue (Arango et al., 2005). Wnt5b is different from other Wnt members. It is transiently up-regulated during adipogenesis and promotes preadipocyte differentiation (Kanazawa et al., 2005b). Other signals may utilize the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway to carry out their functions. For example, testosterone induces androgen receptor binding to beta-catenin and inhibits adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells (Singh et al., 2006). Hedgehog (Hh) proteins are lipid containing secreted proteins that also regulate adipogenesis. Secreted Hh proteins bind to the cell surface receptor Patched (PTC) and release Smoothened (Smo). In turn, Smo regulates gene expression through the GLI family of transcription factors (reviewed by Hooper and Scott, 2005). In flies, activation of Hh signaling in the fat body inhibits fat formation, while inhibition of Hh in the fat body stimulates fat formation (Suh et al., 2006). *In vitro*, Sonic Hedgehog can inhibit 3T3-L1 cell and C3H10T1/2 cell adipogenesis (Spinella-Jaegle et al., 2001; Zehentner et al., 2000). The inhibitory effects of Hh may be due to induction of anti-adipogenic transcription factors such as Gata2 (Suh et al., 2006).

1.2.3.8 Pref1 signalling

Preadipocyte factor 1 (Pref-1, also named DLK1) is an epidermal growth factor (EGF) like repeat containing protein that can be activated through proteolytic cleavage by tumor necrosis factor α converting enzyme (TACE, also called ADAM 17) (reviewed by Wang et al., 2006). Pref-1 is highly expressed in preadipocytes and its expression diminishes when 3T3-L1 preadipocytes differentiate into adipocytes. Moreover, constitutive expression of pref-1 significantly inhibits adipogenic differentiation in preadipocytes (Smas and Sul, 1993). Pref-1 knock-out mice display obesity and increased serum lipid metabolites, while Pref-1 transgenic mice have a dramatic reduction in adipose tissue (Lee et al., 2003a; Moon et al., 2002).

CHAPTER 2

The role of microRNA in 3T3-L1 cell differentiation

2.1 INTRODUCTION

The 3T3-L1 preadipocyte cell line is a well established *in vitro* model to study adipogenesis (Green and Meuth, 1974). Upon a cocktail of cyclic AMP, insulin, and glucocorticoids treatment, 3T3-L1 preadipocytes undergo differentiation into mature adipocytes over 4-6 days period (Student et al., 1980). 3T3-L1 cells first reach growth arrest by contact inhibition. Then, cell division occurs for one or two rounds during clonal expansion. Finally, the cell cycle stops again and proceeds into final differentiation (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2000). We wanted to investigate whether microRNAs (miRNAs) play a role in this process.

MicroRNAs, which are endogenous small non-coding RNAs around 22 nt, play very important roles in many processes such as development, proliferation, apoptosis, metabolism and human diseases (Bushati and Cohen, 2007; Bartel, 2004). MicroRNAs bind to the 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) of their targets and negatively regulate them through translational repression or mRNA decay (reviewed by Eulalio et al., 2008).

miR-143 was reported to regulate adipocyte differentiation by targeting ERK5 (Esau et al., 2004), but another group reported that inhibition of some up-regulated microRNAs didnot affect 3T3-L1 differentiation (Kajimoto et al., 2006). These controversial views promoted us to investigate the role of microRNAs in pre-adipocyte differentiation.

MicroRNA let-7 was first reported to regulate C. elegans developmental timing

(Reinhart et al., 2000). *let-7* can also suppress the oncogene Ras (Johnson et al., 2005). *let-7* was reported to be involved in cancer (Park et al., 2007), including breast cancer (Yu et al., 2007), ovarian cancer (Lu et al., 2007), non-small cell lung cancer (Kumar et al., 2008), lung cancer (Esquela-Kerscher et al., 2008), and colon cancer (Akao et al., 2006).

Other targets for *let-7* were also reported such as neurofibromatosis 2 (Meng et al., 2007b), Toll-like receptor 4 (Chen et al., 2007), CdK6, and Cdc25a (Johnson et al., 2007), and MYC (Sampson et al., 2007).

let-7 can also target High mobility group AT hook 2 (*Hmga2*) (Mayr et al., 2007; Lee and Dutta, 2007). *Hmga2* and *Hmga1* belong to the High Mobility Group A (*Hmga*) family, which encodes architectural transcription factors that bind to minor groove of AT-rich DNA and cause conformational changes in chromatin. HMGA2 protein contains an AT-hook domain that is responsible for DNA binding, a linker, and an acidic tail. *Hmga2* is involved in many physiologic process and diseases (reviewed by Young and Narita, 2007). Gene rearrangement was found at the *Hmga2* region in lipomas (Ashar et al., 1995) and mesenchymal tumors (Schoenmakers et al., 1995). Inactivation of the *Hmga2* gene in mice yields a pygmy phenotype due to lack of fat tissue (Zhou et al., 1995). Mice with heterozygous or null *Hmga2* gene are resistant to diet induced obesity (Anand and Chada, 2000). Over-expression of the truncated *Hmga2* gene produces a giant mouse with massive fat tissue (Battista et al., 1999). These results suggest the *Hmga2* gene plays a role in adipogenesis.

E2F family members also regulate adipogenesis. E2F family members are important transcription factors that regulate cell cycles. There are eight known E2Fs from E2F1 to

E2F8 in this family. E2F1 through E2F6 can dimerize with DP proteins (DP1, DP2/3, DP4). Tumor suppressor retinoblastoma protein (pRB) and other pocket proteins p107 and p130 can regulate the transcriptional activity of E2F1-E2F5 (reviewed by DeGregori and Johnson, 2006). HMGA2 can acetylate and activate E2F1 (Fedele et al., 2006). Lack of E2F1 impairs, while loss of E2F4 promotes, adipogenesis (Fajas et al., 2002).

Since microRNAs have been implicated in playing a role in regulating adipogenesis, in this work we attempted to identify microRNAs that play a role in 3T3-L1 cell differentiation and characterize the regulatory mechanism by which they work.

2.2 RESULTS

2.2.1 Expression of *let-7* and other miRNAs during adipogenesis

To investigate whether miRNAs are involved in adipocyte differentiation, we examined the expression of 386 miRNAs during 3T3-L1 differentiation using microarray analysis. Post-confluent 3T3-L1 cells were induced to differentiate using a cocktail of dexamethasone, 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine and insulin (DMI). RNA was prepared from cells at 0, 1, 4 and 7 days after adipogenic induction (Fig. 2.1A) and small RNAs were purified for use in microarray analysis (Fig. 2.1B). Among the 386 miRNAs examined, 23 were either increased or decreased >1.5 fold during 3T3-L1 differentiation (Table 2.1). Induction of several of these, including *let-7*, miR-103, miR-143, miR-193 and miR-210, was confirmed by northern blot analysis (Fig. 2.2A). The expression of all these miRNAs was up-regulated after 2 days of differentiation and maintained at a high level in mature adipocytes. Consistent with our *in vitro* findings, *let-7*, miR-103, miR-143, miR-193 and miR-210 were all expressed in murine white adipose tissue (WAT) (Fig. 2.2B). Additional profiling studies revealed that each of these miRNAs was expressed in multiple tissues including brown adipose tissue (Fig. 2.2B).

We chose to focus further experiments on *let-7* given its recently established role in regulating cell fate decisions in *C. elegans* and *Drosophila* (Caygill and Johnston, 2008; Reinhart et al., 2000; Sokol et al., 2008). *let-7* expression was increased in 3T3-L1 cells differentiated by treatment with either the DMI cocktail or the PPAR agonist, rosiglitazone (Fig. 2.3A). Using a third independent assay, *let-7* levels were also increased during

insulin-induced differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells into adipocytes (Fig. 2.3A). In agreement with these findings, *let-7* was abundant in mature adipocytes isolated from mice but barely detectable in preadipocytes (Fig. 2.3C). *let-7* was not induced by DMI treatment of NIH3T3 cells, which do not differentiate into adipocytes, nor was it induced during differentiation of C2C12 cells into myotubes (Fig. 2.3B). These data show that *let-7* induction is not invariably associated with either DMI treatment or differentiation processes.

There are several *let-7* isoforms in the mouse genome that differ in only 1–2 nucleotides (Table 2.2). Since these isoforms cannot be distinguished by northern blot analysis, we quantified their levels by RT-qPCR. Consistent with the microarray and northern blot data presented above, the most abundant *let-7* isoforms, including *let-7a*, *let-7b* and *let-7d*, were all up-regulated during 3T3-L1 adipogenesis (Fig. 2.3D). Interestingly, with the exception of *let-7b*, all the *let-7* isoforms decreased from day 0 to day 1 and then increased. We speculate that this transient dip in *let-7* expression may be permissive for clonal expansion (see below).

2.2.2 let-7 inhibits 3T3-L1 differentiation

To test whether *let-7* plays a role in 3T3-L1 adipogenesis, pre-*let-7a* oligonucleotide was transfected into 3T3-L1 cells, where it was efficiently converted into mature *let-7a* as confirmed by northern blot analysis (Fig. 2.4). Introduction of ectopic *let-7a* in 3T3-L1 cells prior to DMI treatment inhibited their differentiation into adipocytes as measured by Oil

Red O staining (Fig. 2.5) and triglyceride content (Fig. 2.6C) on day 6 of differentiation. mRNA levels of *Ppary* and *C/ebpa*, two transcription factors whose induction is important for adipocyte differentiation, were significantly lower in cells transfected with *let-7a* compared to cells transfected with control oligonucleotide (Fig. 2.6B). Likewise, mRNA levels of the mature adipocyte markers, fatty acid binding protein 4 (aP2) and adipsin, were decreased by *let-7a* transfection (Fig. 2.6B). In contrast, *C/ebpβ* and *C/ebpδ*, two genes whose expression is important during the early stages of adipogenesis, were not significantly affected by *let-7a* at the 6 day time point.

2.2.3 Overexpression of *let-7* impairs clonal expansion of 3T3-L1 cells

The treatment of 3T3-L1 cells with an adipogenic stimulus initiates a complex sequence of events including clonal expansion, cell cycle exit and terminal differentiation (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2000). Since *let-7* controls exit from the cell cycle in *C. elegans* and *D. melanogaster* (Caygill and Johnston, 2008; Reinhart et al., 2000; Sokol et al., 2008), we postulated that its up-regulation on day 1 of adipogenesis might play an analogous role in promoting terminal differentiation of adipocytes. To test this hypothesis, 3T3-L1 cells were transfected with either *let-7a* or control oligonucleotides and then allowed to reach confluence, at which point the adipogenic program was initiated with the DMI cocktail. As shown in Fig. 2.7, cell number was significantly reduced in cultures transfected with *let-7a* compared to control oligonucleotide. These data support a role for *let-7* in blocking clonal expansion during adipogenesis.

2.2.4 Microarray analysis showed let-7 down-regulated some genes at mRNA level.

In an effort to identify genes through which *let-7* mediates its effect on adipocyte differentiation, microarray analysis was performed using mRNA prepared from 3T3-L1 cells harvested 24 hours after transfection with either *let-7a* or control oligonucleotide. Genes whose expression was down-regulated >2 fold by *let-7a* are listed in Table 2.3. Several of these genes, including *Hmga2*, *E2f6*, *Cdc34* and insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA binding protein 1 (*Igf2bp1*), have been previously shown to be targets of *let-7* (Boyerinas et al., 2008; Johnson et al., 2007; Lee and Dutta, 2007; Mayr et al., 2007).

E2F family members have been reported to be involved in adipogenesis. Knock-out of E2f1 impairs, while deletion of E2f4 promotes adipogenesis (Fajas et al., 2002). Since the E2f6 mRNA level was down-regulated by let-7 as detected by microarray, we checked whether let-7 regulates adipogenesis through the E2F family. Using online bioinformatics tools, it was found that several members of the E2F family, including E2f2, E2f3, E2f5, and sites E2f6, contain potential let-7 binding in their 3'UTR (http://cbio.mskcc.org/cgi-bin/microRNAviewer/microRNAviewer.pl). These potential let-7 binding sites in the 3' UTR of E2f2, E2f3, E2f5, and E2f6 were cloned and put at the 3' end of a luciferase reporter. The reporter activity was checked in the presence of let-7 or control oligo in F9 cells, which lack endogenous let-7 (Mayr et al., 2007). The activity of reporter containing 3' UTR of E2f5 or E2f6 is lower than negative control reporter, while that of E2f2 or E2f3 was comparable to control reporter (Fig. 2.8a). Mutation of two nucleotides from "C" to "A" in the binding sites of 3' UTR of *E2f5* or *E2f6*, which abolishes the paring of *let*-7 with the binding sites, relieved the repression of reporter activity by *let*-7 (Fig. 2.8c). These results suggest *let-7* can regulate *E2f5* and *E2f6* by binding to the 3' UTR of *E2f5* and *E2f6*, respectively. To check whether *let-7* regulate adipogenesis through *E2f5* or *E2f6*, small interference RNA against *E2f5* or *E2f6* was transfected into 3T3-L1 cells and the adipogenic potential of 3T3-L1 cells was checked after standard DMI induction. Either knock-down of E2F5 or E2F6 didn't inhibit 3T3-L1 differentiation (data not shown). These results suggest the effect of *let-7* on 3T3-L1 adipogenesis may not be mainly through E2F5 or E2F6.

2.2.5 *let-7* may regulate clonal expansion and differentiation by targeting HMGA2

Hmga2 was the gene whose expression was most affected by *let-7a* in 3T3-L1 cells (Table 2.3). Notably, mice lacking HMGA2 have a striking reduction in adipose tissue (Zhou et al., 1995). Conversely, transgenic overexpression of a truncated HMGA2 in mice resulted in a marked increase in fat tissue, adipose tissue inflammation and a high incidence of lipomas (Arlotta et al., 2000; Battista et al., 1999). Thus, HMGA2 was a strong candidate for being a *let-7* target in differentiating adipocytes. In agreement with the microarray data, ectopic *let-7* reduced HMGA2 protein concentrations >3-fold in 3T3-L1 cells (Fig. 2.9A). Interestingly, *Hmga2* mRNA was rapidly induced in 3T3-L1 cells during adipocyte differentiation, with levels peaking 4 hours after treatment with the DMI cocktail and returning to basal concentrations on day 2 (Fig. 2.9B). There was a subsequent increase in HMGA2 protein concentrations, with levels peaking at day 2 (Fig. 2.9C). HMGA2 and *let-7* expression were inversely correlated during adipocyte differentiation (compare Fig. 2.3A,

left panel, with Fig. 2.9A and 2.9B). Finally, siRNA knockdown of HMGA2 inhibited 3T3-L1 differentiation as measured by aP2 and $Ppar\gamma$ mRNA levels (Fig. 2.9D). Taken together, these results strongly suggest that *let-7* regulates 3T3-L1 differentiation in part by targeting HMGA2.

2.2.7 let-7 and Hmga2 play an import role in 3T3-L1 adipogenesis

3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes undergo growth arrest, clonal expansion, final growth arrest and terminal differentiation into mature adipocytes (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2000). Although the main transcription cascades regulating adipogenesis are known, the exact details of how 3T3-L1 cells undergo differentiation remains unknown. Our results show that the microRNA *let-7* specifically increases at the late stage of 3T3-L1 differentiation and Hmga2 is induced at the clonal expansion stage and decreases at final growth arrest and terminal differentiation stages (Fig 2.10). We suggest that *let-7* regulates 3T3-L1 cell differentiation by stopping clonal expansion and bringing it to final growth arrest and terminal differentiation by targeting Hmga2.

Fig. 2.1. Expression of microRNAs during 3T3-L1 differentiation.

A: Oil Red O staining showes lipid accumulation during 3T3-L1 differentiation; **B**: microRNA array expression data from 3T3-L1 cells cultured in differentiation medium for 0, 1, 4 or 7 day. Normalized log2 data are plotted as a heat map. Red denotes high expression and green denotes low expression relative to the median; only the microRNA that were changed by more than 1.5 fold in differentiated adipocytes are shown.







	0	1	4	
Name	day	day	day	7 day
hsa_miR_422b	1	1.50	2.89	12.01
hsa_miR_210	1	1.08	2.42	11.93
hsa_miR_103	1	1.01	1.74	7.53
hsa_miR_193a	1	1.02	2.14	5.55
hsa_miR_22	1	1.07	0.62	3.55
hsa_miR_30d	1	1.92	0.44	2.91
hsa_miR_191	1	1.00	0.52	2.68
hsa_let_7b	1	1.13	1.03	2.41
hsa_miR_320	1	1.21	1.85	2.40
ambi_miR_7029	1	1.02	0.71	2.18
hsa_let_7c	1	1.21	1.01	2.14
hsa_miR_214	1	1.32	1.31	2.12
hsa_miR_24	1	1.24	0.61	2.06
hsa_miR_500	1	1.09	0.49	2.01
hsa_miR_30a_5p	1	0.98	0.58	1.95
hsa_miR_188	1	1.03	0.59	1.94
hsa_miR_30e_3p	1	0.91	0.47	1.92
ambi_miR_7085	1	1.02	1.17	1.91
mmu_miR_155	1	1.01	0.47	1.88
hsa_miR_143	1	1.00	0.35	1.83
hsa_miR_21	1	1.15	0.75	1.69
mmu_miR_140_AS	1	1.23	0.29	0.56
hsa_miR_182	1	1.01	0.16	0.54

 Table 2.1 The expression changes of microRNAs during 3T3-L1 differentiation

Fig. 2.2. Up-regulation of a subset of microRNAs (*let-7*, miR-103, miR-143, miR-193, and miR-210) was confirmed by northern blot during 3T3-L1 differentiation.

Northern blot analysis of microRNA expression from different time points as indicated during 3T3-L1 differentiation as well as in 10 different adult mouse tissues. U6 snRNA was used as a loading control.


Fig. 2.3. *let-7* induction is specific for adipogenesis.

A: post-confluent 3T3-L1 cells were induced to differentiate by incubation with DMI cocktails or Rosiglitazone (Rosi.), and 3T3-F442A cells were induced to differentiate by insulin. RNA was isolated at serial time points as indicated and northern blot was performed using a *let-7a* probe. *let-7* precursor and mature *let-7* are shown. The values are normalized by loading control and represented as fold-changes compared to the level at 0-day B: C2C12 cells were induced to differentiate into myotubes by incubation with differentiation medium, and NIH3T3 cells were treated with the same inducers as 3T3-L1 differentiation. Northern blots were used to detect let-7. The values were normalized by U6 and represented as fold changes compared to that of 0-day. C: Pre-adipocytes (SV fraction) and mature adipocytes (Ad) were isolated from adipose tissue of mice. RNA was extracted and northern blot was performed as described in materials and methods. The image of ethidium bromide (EB) stained gel served as a loading control. **D**: RNA was isolated at different time points as indicated during 3T3-L1 differentiation. Individual isoforms of let-7 family were quantified by specific ABI Taqman Q-PCR probe and primer sets. Error bar represent SDEV from triplicate wells.



 Table 2.2 let-7 isotypes in mice

Name	Chromosome	Sequence
mmu-let-7-a1	13	ugagguaguagguuguauaguu
mmu-let-7-a2	9	ugagguaguagguuguauaguu
mmu-let-7-b	15	ugagguaguagguugugugguu
mmu-let-7-c1	16	ugagguaguagguuguaugguu
mmu-let-7-c2	15	ugagguaguagguuguaugguu
mmu-let-7-d	13	agagguaguagguugcauaguu
mmu-let-7-e	17	ugagguaggagguuguauaguu
mmu-let-7-f1	13	ugagguaguagauuguauaguu
mmu-let-7-f2	X	ugagguaguagauuguauaguu
mmu-let-7-g	9	ugagguaguaguuuguacaguu
mmu-let-7-i	10	ugagguaguaguuugugcuguu

(Data from sanger miRbase)

Fig. 2.4. Pre-*let*-7 can be transfected and converted into its mature form in 3T3-L1 cells.

Bright field view (**A**) or GFP fluorescence (**B**) of 3T3-L1 cells transfected with plasmid expressing GFP. **C**: 3T3-L1 cells were transfected with *let-7*a precursor, control oligo, or GFP by electroporation. RNA was isolated 24 h after transfection and northern blot was performed using *let-7*a probe. The same membrane was re-probed with U6 as a loading control.



let-7

U6

С

Α

В



(100X)

(100X)



57

A Control oligo, 100X

Control oligo, 200X



B *let-7*, 100X

let-7, 200X



Figure 2.5 Ectopic introduction of *let-7* inhibits 3T3-L1 cell differentiation. Oil-Red-O stain of 3T3-L1 cells transfected with control oligo (A) or *let-7* (B) and differentiated into mature adipocytes. The number of magnification was shown.

Fig. 2.6. Ectopic presence of *let-7* inhibits 3T3-L1 adipogenesis.

3T3-L1 cells were transfected with *let-7a* precursor or control oligo. After confluency, transfected cells were either continually incubated with growth medium or induced into differentiation with DMI cocktail. After 6 days, the cells were stained by Oil Red O (magnification 200X) (**A**). **B**: The gene expression was analyzed by Q-PCR. (n=3±SEM, *P<0.01). **C**: Triglyceride content was measured by fluorescence assay described in material and methods. (n=6±SEM, *P<0.01).





А







Fig. 2.7. Ectopic presence of *let-7* inhibits 3T3-L1 clonal expansion.

3T3-L1 cells were transfected with *let*-7a mimic or control oligo by electroporation and cultured in growth medium for 24 h after transfection. Then the cells were incubated with DMI-cocktail. On day 1, 2, and 3, the cell number was counted. ($n=3\pm$ SEM, *P<0.01 vs control oligo).



Gene	Access number	Fold change			
Hmga2	NM_010441	3.58			
Isg15	NM_015783	3.28			
Nfib	NM_001113209	2.78			
Nme4	NM_019731	2.70			
Stat1	NM_009283	2.65			
Parp12	NM_172893	2.65			
Usp18	NM_011909	2.64			
Rnf213	NM_001040005	2.62			
ligp2	NM_019440	2.61			
Apol9a	XM_128064	2.60			
Mx2	NM_013606	2.56			
Vstm2a	NM_145967	2.54			
Cdsn	NM_001008424	2.48			
Lgals3bp	NM_011150	2.25			
Apol9b	NM_173743	2.21			
Arhgap20	NM_175535	2.20			
Irgm	NM_008326	2.18			
Igtp	NM_018738	2.17			
Ubell	NM_023738	2.17			
Samd9l	XM_620286	2.17			
E2f6	NM_033270	2.15			
AI606181	XR_035116	2.11			
Cdc34	NM_177613	2.09			
Plagl2	NM_018807	2.07			
Igf2bp1	NM_009951	2.00			

Table 2.3. Genes down-regulated by *let-7* in 3T3-L1 cells.

Fig. 2.8. let-7 can bind to the 3' UTR of E2f5 and E2f6 and regulate their expression.

A: The activity of pGL3-luc, pGL3-luc containing the exact complementary sequence for *let-7* (pGL3-*let-7*) or binding site from the 3' UTR of *E2f2*, *E2f3*, *E2f5* or *E2f6* (pGL3-E2F) was checked in the presence of control oligo or *let-7b* in F9 cells. The fold changes are shown. (n=3 \pm SEM, RLU: relative luciferase unit) **B**: The paring of *let-7* with binding sites in the 3' UTR of *E2f5* or *E2f6*. The mutated sites are shown as underlined letters. **C**: The activity of pGL3 reporter containing wild-type or mutant binding sites for *let-7* from the 3'UTR of *E2f5* or *E2f6* was measured in the presence of *let-7* or control oligo. The fold changes are shown. (n=3 \pm SEM)



В

С

Α

12:5'	AA	-CUU	GGG	ACU	JAUU	AU	CUA	<u>AA</u> U	CU	3'	Mouse E2f5
12:5'	AA	-CUU	GGG	ACU	JAUU	AU	CUA	CCU	CU	3'	Mouse E2f5
3'	 UU	: .GG-	: -UG	 UGU	:: JUGG	AU	 GAU(GU	5'	mmu-let-7b
4310:	5'	ACCI	JA-(GCG	CUCI	IJ-(CUAA	AUC	А	3'	Mouse E2f6
4310:	5'	ACCU	JA-(GCG	CUC	IJ-(CUAC	CUC	А	3'	Mouse E2f6
				: :	:						

3' UUGAUAUGUUGGAUGAUGGAGU

- UTR mutant
- UTR
- UTR mutant
- UTR
- 5' mmu-let-7a



Fig. 2.9. let-7 regulates 3T3-L1 cell differentiation through the HMGA2 pathway.

A: HMGA2 protein level in *let-7* or control oligo transfected 3T3-L1 cells. GAPDH is shown as a loading control. **B**: Relative *Hmga2* mRNA levels at indicated time points during 3T3-L1 cell differentiation detected by Q-PCR (SYBR green assay). (n=3 \pm SDEV) **C**: Western blots showing HMGA2 protein levels at indicated days during 3T3-L1 cell differentiation. GAPDH is shown as a loading control. **D**: Relative mRNA level of *aP2* and Ppar γ in *Hmga2* siRNA, *E2f1* siRNA, or control siRNA transfected 3T3-L1 cells after differentiation. (n=3 \pm SEM, *P<0.05, **P<0.01)







Fig. 2.10. Schematic of let-7 and HMGA2 level during 3T3-L1 cell differentiation. Dash

line shows *let-7* expression and solid line indicates HMGA2 protein level.



2.3 DISCUSSION

The differentiation of preadipocytes into mature fat cells requires a highly orchestrated series of changes in gene expression. Although a transcription factor cascade has been identified that regulates adipocyte differentiation, the molecular mechanisms that coordinate the different phases of adipogenesis are not yet completely understood. In this report, we have identified the miRNA *let-7* as an important regulator of adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells. *Let-7* is up-regulated following induction of adipogenesis by either the standard DMI cocktail or the combination of rosiglitazone and insulin. Consistent with these *in vitro* findings, *let-7* is much more abundant in mature adipocytes than preadipocytes derived from mouse epididymal adipose. Notably, introduction of ectopic *let-7* blocks 3T3-L1 cell growth during the clonal expansion stage and completely blocks terminal differentiation as measured by both the expression of marker genes and lipid accumulation.

How does *let-7* block adipocyte differentiation? In microarray experiments performed with RNA from 3T3-L1 cells transfected with *let-7a*, *Hmga2* was the most strongly down-regulated RNA, and there was a corresponding decrease in HMGA2 protein concentrations. Previous studies have demonstrated that *let-7* represses HMGA2 expression by binding to six different sites in the *Hmga2* 3'-untranslated region (Mayr et al., 2007). HMGA2 is an architectural transcription factor that alters chromatin structure. Rearrangements of the *Hmga2* gene are frequently observed in benign tumors of mesenchymal origin, including lipomas (Ashar et al., 1995; Schoenmakers et al., 1995). Interestingly, both gain-of-function and loss-of-function experiments in mice implicate

HMGA2 in adipogenesis. Mice lacking HMGA2 have marked reductions in adipose tissue (Zhou et al., 1995). Conversely, transgenic mice overexpressing either full-length or truncated derivatives of HMGA2 develop lipomatosis (Arlotta et al., 2000; Battista et al., 1999; Fedele et al., 2002). These findings, together with our data showing that siRNA-mediated knockdown of HMGA2 blocks 3T3-L1 adipogenesis, suggest that HMGA2 is an important target for the effects of *let-7* on adipocyte differentiation. However, since *let-7* regulates numerous genes, its effects on adipocyte differentiation are likely to be complex and involve regulation of additional genes. In this regard, it is interesting that *let-7* reduced mRNA levels of *E2f6* and *Stat1*. Other members of the E2F family are known to regulate adipogenesis (Fajas et al., 2002), and STAT1 has been shown to be up-regulated during adipogenesis and to regulate gene expression in mature adipocytes (Hogan and Stephens, 2001; Hogan and Stephens, 2003; Stephens et al., 1996).

The regulation of miRNA expression during adipocyte differentiation has been examined by several groups. In a survey of miRNA regulation during 3T3-L1 cell differentiation, Kajimoto et al. observed increased expression of the *let-7b* isoform, which was robustly induced in our study (Kajimoto et al., 2006). In a study of human adipocyte differentiation, Esau et al. saw increased expression of *let-7a* and *let-7c* (Esau et al., 2004). These findings support a role for *let-7* in regulating fat cell differentiation in both humans and mice. Surprisingly, there is relatively little overlap in the miRNAs regulated in our study and that of Kajimoto et al., with only *let-7b*, miR-143, miR-182 and miR-422b showing similar patterns. The basis for this difference is not known, but it does not appear to be due to marked differences in the differentiation protocols.

While we were able to observe a strong gain-of-function phenotype in 3T3-L1 adipocytes with *let-7a*, we did not observe a reciprocal phenotype in knockdown experiments performed with 2'-O-methyl oligoribonucleotide inhibitors against the various *let-7* isoforms (data not shown). Functional redundancy amongst miRNAs is well documented (Miska et al., 2007) and thus the presence of many *let-7* isoforms is a likely explanation for the lack of an effect we seen in these experiments. In this regard, we note that transfection of *let-7b* had the same effect as *let-7a* on 3T3-L1 cell differentiation (data not shown).

In summary, we provide evidence that *let-7* regulates adipocyte differentiation. We propose that *let-7* does this in part by targeting the transcription factor HMGA2, thereby promoting the transition of preadipocytes from clonal expansion to terminal differentiation (Fig. 2.10). The role of *let-7* in mediating this transition switch is reminiscent of its developmental role in *C. elegans*, where *let-7* regulates the transition from the larva to adult (Johnson et al., 2005; Reinhart et al., 2000). Our findings suggest that *let-7* may have important implications in obesity and other forms of metabolic disease in which there are alterations in the amount and/or function of adipose tissue.

2.4 SUMMARY

3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes undergo growth arrest, clonal expansion, final growth arrest and terminal differentiation into mature adipocytes. We investigated whether microRNAs, endogenous small RNAs, play a role in this process. Microarrays were performed to detect the expression of microRNAs during 3T3-L1 pre-adipocyte differentiation at day 0, day 1, day 4, and day 7. Several microRNAs including *let-7* were up-regulated at the late stage of 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. Microarray results were confirmed by northern blot and quantitative real time PCR. *let-7* expression specifically increased during the late stage of 3T3-L1 differentiation. Over presence of *let-7* in 3T3-L1 cells before DMI induction inhibits 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. Both the mRNA and protein levels of *Hmga2*, a target for *let-7*, decreased after ectopic introduction of *let-7* in 3T3-L1 cells. HMGA2 protein level is inversely correlated to *let-7* levels during 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. Knock-down of *Hmga2* or *E2f1* by siRNA also inhibits 3T3-L1 cells and bring them to final growth arrest and terminal differentiation by targeting *Hmga2*.

CHAPTER 3

Profiles of microRNA Expression in Normal Mouse Tissues Detected by Quantitative Real Time PCR

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Genes encoding microRNAs are located in intergenic regions or in the introns or exons of other genes on chromosomes. They either have their own promoters or are controlled by the promoters of other genes. The expression of microRNAs in different tissues should offer some clues into their function. Also, the expression level of microRNA in different normal tissues can be used as a reference for that of physiologic or pathologic status.

There are several ways to detect expression of microRNAs. Northern analysis is commonly used for detecting microRNA expression. For example, researchers have used northern analysis to detect the expression of 119 microRNAs in mouse and human tissues (Sempere et al., 2004). This strategy has some shortcomings. It is labor-intensive and can not distinguish microRNAs with very similar sequences.

Microarrays have the advantage of being high-throughput and have been used for detecting the profile of microRNA expression (Barad et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2004a; Miska et al., 2004; Nelson et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2004; Thomson et al., 2004). However, microarrays cannot differentiate microRNAs with similar sequences, and can not detect microRNAs with very low expression.

In an effort to improve the specificity of microarray for microRNAs, locked nucleic acid

74

(LNA)-modified capture probes have been used in microarrays. LNA probe sets were designed for uniform, high-affinity hybridizations that can produce highly accurate signals and are able to discriminate single nucleotide differences due to their unique biophysical properties (Castoldi et al., 2007; Castoldi et al., 2008; Castoldi et al., 2006).

Another group used bead-based flow-cytometric microRNA expression profiling to perform expression analysis of 217 mammalian microRNAs from 334 samples, including multiple human cancer samples (Lu et al., 2005). It is claimed that bead-based hybridization is superior to glass array hybridization in specificity since it is solution based chemistry. This method also is fast, high-throughput, and low cost (Lu et al., 2005).

To achieve the goals of high specificity and sensitivity, a novel microRNA quantification method has been developed using stem-loop revese transcription (RT) followed by TaqMan PCR analysis (Chen et al., 2005a). Stem-loop RT primers are more efficient and specific than conventional RT primers. TaqMan microRNA assays can specifically detect mature microRNAs and are not affected by genomic DNA, pri-microRNAs, or pre-microRNAs. This assay can discriminate microRNAs with similar sequences that only differ by a single nucleotide. The Taqman PCR process amplifies targets and can detect microRNAs of very low abundance (Chen et al., 2005a). This method has been widely used for detecting microRNA expression in cell lines, tissues, and tumors (Chen and Stallings, 2007; Gaur et al., 2007; Jongen-Lavrencic et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2008; Liang et al., 2007).

In an effort to explore the role of microRNAs in different tissues, we analyzed the expression profiles of 111 microRNAs in 36 mouse tissues using an Applied Biosystem

microRNA Taqman assay kit. These resultant profiles provide hints toward the function of different microRNAs. Furthermore, a comparison of microRNA expression with nuclear receptor expression was performed and may provide useful information on nuclear receptor regulation of microRNA expression, and vice versa.

3.2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.2.1 MicroRNAs show different expression patterns in mouse tissues.

Total RNA was extracted from 36 tissues from C57BL/6J mice using a standard protocol (Bookout et al., 2006). These tissues include eight from CNS (eye, brain stem, cerebellum, cerebrum, olfactory bulb, spinal cord, hypothalamus, and pituitary gland), three belong to endocrine tissues (adrenal gland, pancreas, and thyroid gland), seven of them are from metabolic tissues (duodenum, jejunum, ileum, colon, gall bladder, liver, and kidney), two are from adipose tissues (WAT and BAT), two from immune system (spleen and thymus gland), eight of them are from reproductive tissues (ovary, uterus, epididymus, preputial gland, prostate, seminal vesicles, testis, and vas deferens), three of them are from the respiratory system (aorta, lung, and heart), and three are from structural tissues (muscle, skin, and bone).

The RNA was reverse transcribed using microRNA-specific stem-loop RT primers. Then the cDNA was amplified in a Taqman PCR reaction using microRNA-specific PCR primers and Taqman probes. The data were analyzed using the standard curve assay (Chen et al., 2005a).

To check data accuracy, northern analysis was performed on select microRNAs. Northern analysis confirmed the result (Fig. 3.1). In addition, our Q-PCR results are consistent with previous publications (Esau et al., 2006).

The expression of different microRNAs varied considerably. Some showed high expression in different tissues, while others were very low to undetectable (Fig. 3.3). For example, miR-30c and miR-16 were highly expressed in most tissues (Fig. 3.2; 3.4). On the contrary, microRNAs like miR-190 were barely detectale.

3.2.1.2 Specific expression pattern

A subset of microRNAs exhibited exclusive expression in mouse tissues. For example, miR-122a was exclusively expressed in liver, in agreement with other reports (Esau et al., 2006). miR-133 was highly expressed in heart and skeletal muscle, with low expression in skin, bone and eye. The expression level of miR-133a and miR-133b was increased during C2C12 myocyte differentiation (Fig. 3.5). These results are consistent with its role in muscle development (reviewed by Callis and Wang, 2008). miR-194 was highly expressed in intestinal organs such as duodenum, jejunum, ileum, and colon, as well as at a lower levels in liver (Fig. 3.6). miR-23a and miR-23b had relatively higher expression in colon, and lower expression in heart, lung, skin and muscle (Fig. 3.7). miR-203 and miR-205 are highly expressed in preputial gland and skin. miR-205 was also expressed at low levels in reproductive tissues such as epididymus, prostate and seminal vesicles (Fig. 3.8). miR-213 was highly expressed in thymus. The expression of miR-148a was higher in pancreas than other tissues (Fig. 3.9). In white adipose tissue, the expression of miR-335 was high. It was also expressed in prejutiary (Fig. 3.4). miR-140 had high expression in aorta and bone.

miR-142-3p was also mainly expressed in bone (Fig. 3.10). miR-182, miR-183, and miR-184 were mainly expressed in eyes (Fig. 3.11; 3.12).

Some microRNAs was exclusively or mainly expressed in the central nerve system (CNS). For example, miR-124 was exclusively expressed in the CNS (Fig. 3.13) and has been reported to play a role in neuronal development (Makeyev et al., 2007; Visvanathan et al., 2007). miR-9, miR-9*, miR-29, miR-128, miR-132, miR-204, miR-218, and miR-219 are highly expressed in the CNS (Fig. 3.14; 3.15; 3.16; 3.17; 3.18). miR-127, miR-129, miR-134, miR-137, miR-154, miR-323, and miR-370 were mainly expressed in the CNS, but at a much lower level (Fig. 3.19, 3.20, 3.21).

The expression data of other microRNAs in this study was shown in (Fig. 3.27-3.43).

3.2.2 Hierarchical clustering of microRNAs based in mouse tissues

Hierarchical clustering of microRNAs expression from 36 mouse tissues in these tissues showed high correlation between tissues from the same anatomic location (Fig. 3.22). Tissues from GI tract, including duodenum, jejunum, ileum, and colon are clustered together. Also tissues from the CNS, such as brain stem, cerebellum, cerebrum, olfactory bulb, spinal cord, and hypothalamus clustered together. Epididymus, vas deferens, and prostate belong to the male productive organs and they clustered together. Tissues with similar physiologic functions also showed high correlation in the cluster analysis. For example, heart and skeletal muscle are clustered together; Spleen and thymus clustered together. These results suggest that the role of a microRNA is consistent with the function of the tissue in which it is expressed.

Liang et al. provided expression data of 345 microRNAs from 40 normal human tissues. In that study, the cluster analysis of human tissues based on their microRNA expression drew similar conclusions to our study (Liang et al., 2007).

Hierarchical clustering of microRNAs based on their expression in different tissues showed different isotypes of microRNAs clustered together (Fig. 3.23). Two isoforms of *let-7*, *let-7*a, and *let-7*d, clustered together, indicating their similar expression (Fig. 3.24). miR-133a and miR-133b also clustered together. Although these different isoforms of microRNA may come from different locations of chromosomes, the similar expression pattern is consistent with their redundant roles in tissues.

MicroRNAs from a single transcript clustered together (Fig. 3.23). For example, the miR-17-92 cluster is located on chromosome 14 of the mouse genome. The expression of three of these microRNAs (miR-17-5p, miR-19a and miR-20) clustered together based on their expression in mouse tissues (Fig. 3.25). This result indicates microRNAs under the control of a common promoter also exhibited similar expression patterns.

3.2.3 Correlation between nuclear receptors and microRNAs based on their expression pattern in mouse tissues.

The expression pattern of microRNAs from this study was compared to that of nuclear receptors in different tissues (Bookout et al., 2006), to provide meaningful information on regulation of nuclear receptors and microRNAs. If a microRNA shows positive correlation with a nuclear receptor, it may indicate that that nuclear receptor regulates its expression. If the correlation is negative, it may suggest the nuclear receptor is regulated by that

microRNA. One point worth noting here is that these correlations are only based on microRNA and nuclear receptor tissue expression pattern. These predications will need to be validated by further experimentation.

Based on the expression of microRNAs and nuclear receptors in mouse tissues, the correlation coefficient was calculated using Pearson correlation. As shown in Table 3.1, there are 50 pairs of nuclear receptors and microRNAs that have positive correlation with coefficients greater than 0.8. None of them shows a negative correlation with an absolute value greater than 0.5. miR-184 is exclusively expressed in eyes and it has high correlation with the photoreceptor cell-specific nuclear receptor (PNR) (Fig. 3.11). miR-194 has high expression in intestinal tissues and it has high correlation with HNF4 γ and PXR (Fig. 3.6).

To investigate whether miR-194 is a target of PXR, we checked whether miR-194 level is changed in wild type and PXR knock-out mice treated with pregnenolone-16a-carbonitrilepcn (PCN, a PXR ligand). CYP3a11 and OATP2 (organic anion transporting polypeptide 2) are target genes of PXR and their expression was up-regulated by PCN treatment in wild type but not PXR knock-out mice. However, miR-194 expression was unchanged in wild-type mice treated with PXR ligand. These results suggest miR-194 is not a direct target of PXR. Also the expression of miR-194 was not up-regulated by thyroid hormone T3, vitamin D3, or ligands for FXR, LXR, RXR, CAR, RAR, PPAR $\alpha/\beta/\delta/\gamma$ (Fig. 3.26).

Although the correlation between miR-194 and PXR predicated by clustering was disproved by experimental data, there are still many pairs of microRNAs and nuclear receptors remaining to be explored. For example, the relationship between miR-194 and HNF4 γ needs to be further investigated.

Another way to investigate the regulation between microRNA and nuclear receptor is using microarray. Comparing the expression of microRNAs before and after ligand treatment for nuclear receptors will help to identify microRNAs which are the targets of nuclear receptors.

3.3 SUMMARY

The expression of 111 microRNAs in 36 mouse tissues was detected by quantitative real time PCR. MicroRNAs have diverse expression patterns in different tissues. Some are universally expressed while others are specifically expressed in certain tissues, suggesting their roles in these tissues. The expression level of different microRNA varies from each other. MicroRNAs transcribed from the same genomic location have similar expression patterns in mouse tissues. Also different isotypes of microRNAs have similar expressions in mouse tissues despite that they may come from different locations of choromosomes. Hierarchical cluster analysis based on the expression of microRNA in tissues revealed that tissues having similar physiological functions or from the same anatomic location are clustered together, suggesting the roles of microRNAs are consistent with the function of the tissue in which they are expressed. Comparison of the expression of microRNAs with that of nuclear receptors in mouse tissues showed positive correlations between nuclear receptors and microRNAs. Whether these relationships reflect a functional relationship remains to be explored in the future. Taken together, the expression profile of microRNAs in mouse tissues provides a useful resource to the microRNA and nuclear receptor communities. To that end, these data sets will be deposited at www.nursa.org.



В



Figure 3.1 Quantitative real time PCR (A) and northern analysis (B) showed miR-122 is specifically expressed in liver.

miR-122a expression

Α



Figure 3.2 The expression of miR-30 in mouse tissues.

Figure 3.3 The expression of microRNAs in mouse tissues. Color scheme: low expression (green); median expression (black); high expression (red); no expression (grey).



86



miR-335



Figure 3.4 The expression of miR-16 and miR-335 in mouse tissues.

miR-16





Figure 3.5 The expression of miR-133 in mouse tissues and during C2C12 differentiation.

4d

6d

1d 2d 3d

C2C12 differentiation

0

0h 1h 2h 4h 8h 1d 2d 3d 4d 6d

C2C12 differentiation

> 0h 1h 2h 4h 8h


Figure 3.6 The expression of miR-194, HNF4g, and PXR in mouse tissues. The expression data of HNF4g and PXR are from (Bookout et al., 2006).

miR-23a



miR-23b



Figure 3.7 The expression of miR-23a and miR-23b in mouse tissues.







Figure 3.8 The expression of miR-203 and miR-205 in mouse tissues.

miR-213



miR-148a



Figure 3.9 The expression of miR-213 and miR-148a in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.10 The expression of miR-140 and miR-142 in mouse tissues.

Colon

Gallbladder

Liver Kidney

lleum

Thyroid

Pancreas Duodenum Jejunum

Adrenal

Pituitary

Olfactory bulb Spinal cord Hypothalamus Thymus

Ovary

Spleen

BAT WAT Uterus

Epididymus

Preputial Gland Prostate Testis

Seminal vessicles

0.02 0.015 0.01 0.005

0

Eye

Brain stem Cerebellum Cerebrum Ē

Muscle Skin

Lung Bone

Heart

Aorta

Vas Deferens



PNR



Figure 3.11 The expression of miR-184 and PNR (Bookout et al., 2006) in mouse tissues.

94



miR-182



Figure 3.12 The expression of miR-182 and miR-183 in mouse tissues.



miR-124a

miR-124b



Figure 3.13 The expression of miR-124 in mouse tissues.



miR-9

miR-9*



Figure 3.14 The expression of miR-9 in mouse tissues.





Figure 3.15 The expression of miR-29 in mouse tissues.



miR-128b



Figure 3.16 The expression of miR-128 in mouse tissues.

miR-128a







Figure 3.17 The expression of miR-132 and miR-204 in mouse tissues.







Figure 3.18 The expression of miR-218 and miR-219 in mouse tissues.





Figure 3.19 The expression of miR-127 and miR-129 in mouse tissues.

miR-127



miR-137



Figure 3.20 The expression of miR-134 and miR-137 in mouse tissues.

miR-134



Figure 3.21 The expression of miR-154, miR-323, and miR-370 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.22 Cluster analysis of mouse tissues based on their microRNA expression.

Figure 3.23 Cluster analysis of microRNAs based on their expression in mouse tissues







Kidney BAT

Galibiad

Jejunum

Duodenum Colon

Thyro

Prostate Testis Aorta

Vas Defere

Preputial Gland Seminal vessicles

Epididy

25000

20000

15000

0000

Eye Brain stem Cerebellum

Olfactory bulb Spinal cord Hypothalamus Pituitary Adrenal

Cerebra

Relative expression



let-7b

let-7d





let-7g

let-7i



Figure 3.24 The expression of let-7 in mouse tissues.





Figure 3.25 The expression of miR-17, miR-19a, and miR-20 in mouse tissues.

miRNA	Nuclear Receptor	Correlation	P value
miR-184	PNR	0.99	6.24E-50
miR-96	PNR	0.98	6.23E-24
miR-34c	GCNF	0.98	7.37E-24
miR-34c	DAX	0.96	2.51E-21
miR-194	HNF4g	0.96	1.48E-20
miR-183	PNR	0.94	7.9E-18
miR-9*	COUP-TFI	0.93	3.18E-16
miR-9	TLX	0.92	9.89E-16
miR-135b	TLX	0.92	1.11E-15
miR-182	PNR	0.92	1.33E-15
miR-128a	TLX	0.92	2.35E-15
miR-129	TLX	0.91	2.38E-14
miR-34c	TR2	0.90	5.63E-14
miR-128b	TLX	0.90	6.44E-14
miR-9	COUP-TFI	0.89	2.25E-13
miR-34c	FXRb	0.89	3.05E-13
miR-98b	TLX	0.88	2.6E-12
miR-184	ERRb	0.87	3.07E-12
miR-137	TLX	0.87	3.5E-12
miR-9*	TRa	0.87	8.71E-12
miR-9*	TLX	0.87	9.24E-12
miR-107	TLX	0.86	2.0E-11
miR-129	NURR1	0.86	2.95E-11
miR-194	PXR	0.85	3.61E-11
miR-132	NURR1	0.85	3.93E-11
miR-132	TLX	0.85	4.13E-11
miR-129	COUP-TFI	0.85	4.18E-11
miR-124b	TLX	0.85	4.22E-11
miR-29b	TLX	0.85	4.3E-11
miR-29c	TLX	0.85	4.29E-11
miR-30e	TLX	0.85	4.68E-11
miR-96	ERRb	0.85	6.79E-11
miR-128a	NURR1	0.85	8.48E-11
miR-323	COUP-TFI	0.84	1.16E-10
miR-9	NURR1	0.84	1.48E-10
miR-29a	TLX	0.84	2.23E-10
miR-323	TLX	0.83	2.45E-10
miR-218	COUP-TFI	0.83	3.94E-10
miR-370	COUP-TFI	0.83	4.79E-10
miR-128a	COUP-TFI	0.82	1.15E-09
miR-135b	COUP-TFI	0.82	1.41E-09
miR-138	TLX	0.81	2.08E-09
miR-204	PNR	0.81	2.09E-09
miR-218	TLX	0.81	2.7E-09
miR-204	RORb	0.81	2.89E-09
miR-183	ERRb	0.81	3.18E-09
miR-128b	NURR1	0.80	3.68E-09
miR-9*	NURR1	0.80	4.79E-09
miR-135b	NURR1	0.80	6.42E-09

Table 3.1 Correlations between nuclear receptors and microRNAs



Figure 3.26 Test whether miR-194 is a direct transcriptional target of nuclear receptors. A. The expression of PXR target genes in wild-type or PXR knock-out mice treated with PCN. B. The expression of miR-194 in wild-type or PXR knock-out mice treated with PCN. C. The expression of miR-194 in the presence of different ligands for nuclear receptors.



Figure 3.27 The expression of miR-10, miR-15, and miR-21 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.28 The expression of miR-25, miR-26b, miR-27b, and miR-28 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.29 The expression of miR-34, miR-92, and miR-96 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.30 The expression of miR-98b, miR-99a, miR-100, and miR-103 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.31 The expression of miR-107, miR-125a, miR-125b, and miR-126 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.32 The expression of miR-128 and miR-130 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.33 The expression of miR-135, miR-138, and miR-139 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.34 The expression of miR-141, miR-145, miR-146, and miR-149 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.35 The expression of miR-150, miR-152, and miR-181 in mouse tissues.







Figure 3.37 The expression of miR-189, miR-190, miR-191, and miR-193 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.38 The expression of miR-195 and miR-199 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.39 The expression of miR-200 and miR-210 in mouse tissues.



Figure 3.40 The expression of miR-214, miR-221, miR-222, and miR-223 in mouse tissues.










CHAPTER 4

Material and Methods

4.1 Cell culture and differentiation

3T3-L1 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) high glucose with L-glutamine (Invitrogen, CA) and supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100U/ml penicillin, 100mg/ml streptomycin, and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO2 humidified atmosphere. Differentiation with DMI: two days after confluence. cocktail containing 1uM dexamethasone, а 0.5mM 3-iso-butyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX), and 5ug/ml insulin were added into culture medium. After culturing with DMI for 48 hours, culture medium was replaced every 48 hours with DMEM containing 10% FBS and 5ug/ml insulin until pre-adipocytes become mature adipocytes. Differentiation with Rosiglitazone: after 3T3-L1 preadipocytes reached confluence, cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 5uM Rosiglitazone. Medium was replaced every 48 hours. 3T3-F442A differentiation: 3T3-F442A cells were cultured in DMEM high glucose with 10% FBS and 5ug/ml insulin was added to the culture medium to induce 3T3-F442A differentiation after confluence. C2C12 differentiation: C2C12 myocytes were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 20% FBS and differentiated into myotubes by culture in DMEM with 2% horse serum after confluence.

4.2 Northern blot for microRNAs

10ug of total RNA for each sample was mixed with 2x sample loading buffer and incubated at 65°C for 10 minutes, chilled on ice for 3 minutes and loaded on a 15% polyacrylamide gel containing 7M Urea (Invitrogene, CA). Electrophoresis was performed at 250V for 1 hour in 1X Tris-Borate-EDTA (TBE) buffer. RNA was transfered onto Hybond N+ membranes (Amersham Biosciences, NJ) at 20V for 45 minutes in 0.5X TBE. RNA was cross-linked to this membrane by UV-linker. Starfire probes for each microRNA were labeled with α -P³²-dATP (Amersham Biosciences, NJ) using the Starfire kit (Integrated DNA Technology, Coralville, IA). Labeled probe was separated from free α -P³²-dATP using Sephadex G-25 column (Roche, IN). Hybridization was done at 45°C in 0.2M Na₂HPO₄, 7% SDS buffer overnight. Membranes were washed with 2X SSC/0.1% SDS twice and exposed to X-ray film. Either ethidium bromide (EB) stained gel or U6 snRNA northern blot was used as a loading control.

4.3 RNA preparation and quantitative real time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from 3T3-L1 cells using RNA stat-60 (Tel-Test, TX) and precipitated with isopropanol. Messenger RNA was converted to cDNA and detected with ABI 7900HT sequence detection system using SYBR greener assay (Bookout and Mangelsdorf, 2003). Cyclophilin or 18S rRNA was used as loading control. The data analysis was done according to (Fu et al., 2005).

Primers for real time PCR (Fu et al., 2005):

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer
C/EBPa	gacatcagcgcctacatcga	tcggctgtgctggaagag
C/EBPß	atttctatgagaaaagaggcgtatgt	aaatgtetteaetttaatgetegaa
C/EBΡδ	ttccaaccccttccctgat	ctggagggtttgtgttttctgt
Adipsin	aggacgacctcattctttttaagc	acttctttgtcctcgtattgcaa
aP2	gcctgccactttccttgtg	gacatcagcgcctacatcga
ΡΡΑRγ	caagaataccaaagtgcgatcaa	gagctgggtcttttcagaataataag
FAS	gctgcggaaacttcaggaaat	agagacgtgtcactcctggactt
LPL	ggccagattcatcaactggat	gctccaaggctgtaccctaag
E2F1	cccctcctgagacccaacta	gctcttaagggagatctgaaatgtc
Hmga2	aacctgtgagccctctcctaag	gccgtttttctccaatggtc (Lin et al., 2007)

For microRNA quantitative real time PCR, Taqman MicroRNA assay kit (Applied Biosystems, CA) was used. Reverse transcription (RT) of each microRNA with microRNA specific stem loop RT primer and quantitative real time PCR with Taqman probe were done according to product manual to detect mature microRNA. Universal RNAs from mouse tissues were used to set up a standard curve for each microRNAs. U6 snRNA level was used as a loading control.

4.4 Microarray

For microRNA microarray, microRNAs were isolated from total RNA using the FlashPAGE fractionator (Ambion, TX). 100ug of total RNA was loaded to FlashPAGE precast gel and small size RNA was collected after electrophoresis at 80V for 12 minutes. Then small size RNA was purified by FlashPAGE reaction clean up kit (Ambion, TX). 1ug of small size RNA was used for microarray on a custom prepared slide containing 386 probes for human, mouse, and rat microRNAs from mirVana microRNA Probe Set (Ambion, TX). Microarrays were done at UT Southwestern Medical Center University Microarray Core Facility. After Labeling, hybridization, and washing, slides are scanned and analyzed using GeneTraffic software.

For mRNA microarray, Illumina beadarray (Illumina, CA) was used. Total RNA was extracted from control microRNA or *let-7* transfected 3T3-L1 cells 24 hours post transfection. After cDNA synthesis and purification, aRNA purification, hybridization, wash, staining, and scanning of slides, data was analyzed.

4.5 Western blot

3T3-L1 cells were scraped from culture dishes and lysed with M-Per mammalian protein extraction reagent (Pierce, IL) after phosphate buffer solution (PBS) washing. Proteins were separated with 15% SDS-PAGE and transferred to cellulose membranes. Membranes were blotted with 1:200 anti-Hmag2 rabbit antibody (Biocheck, CA). Then 1:5,000 anti rabbit HRP secondary antibody was blotted to the membrane. The same membrane was blotted with 1:10,000 anti-GAPDH HRP conjugated antibody (Sigma-aldrich, MO) as a loading control.

4.6 Oil Red O staining

Oil red O staining was done according to (Wu et al., 1998). Cells in culture dishes were fixed in 10% formaldehyde in PBS for 15min after two times of PBS wash. Cells then were stained in freshly made Oil Red O solution (60% of Oil Red O stock solution which consists of 0.5% Oil Red O in isopropanol, 40% of H_2O) for at least 1 hour. After staining, the cells

were washed with 60% isopropanol, then with H₂O until background staining was gone.

4.7 Glyceride content measurement

Glyceride content was measured using AdipoRed assay reagent (Cambrex, MD) according to manufactory protocol. In summary, 5ul of AdipoRed reagent was added to each well of a 96 well plate containing 200ul PBS after washing with PBS. After mixing and 10 minutes wait, the 96 well plate was measured in the Victor 1420 Multilabel Counter fluorimeter (PerkinElmer, Waltham, Massachusetts) at excitation wave at 485nm and emission wave at 572nm.

4.8 3T3-L1 cell transfection using Nucleofector

3T3-L1 cells were trypsinized and pelleted down at 90g for 10 minutes. After removal of supernatant, 100ul of buffer V and 2ug of *let-7* pre-mir (Ambion, TX) or plasmids were used to resuspend the pellet. 3T3-L1 cells were transfected using Nucleofector (Amaxa, MD) in buffer V with program T-30. Cells were cultured in 6 well plates or 96 well plates after transfection.

4.9 Luciferase assay in F9 cells

F9 cells were cultured in 0.1% gelatin-coated 48 well plates with DMEM containing 10% FBS. Plasmids for luciferase reporter, control renilla luciferase reporter, and control or

let-7 oligo were transfected into F9 cells with X-tremeGENE siRNA transfection reagent (Roche, IN) according to the product manual. Cells were lysed and luciferase and renilla luciferase activity were measured using dual luciferase assay kits (Promega, WI) 24hours after transfection. Luciferase reporter activity was normalized to renilla luciferase activity.

4.10 Hierarchical cluster analysis

MicroRNAs or mouse tissues were subjected to unsupervised hierarchical cluster analysis based on the expression of microRNAs in different mouse tissues using Cluster 3.0 software (which was originally developed by Michael Eisen at Stanford University and later developed by M. J. L. de Hoon, S. Imoto, J. Nolan, and S. Miyano at the Human Genome Center of University of Tokyo). The log2 data was centered by median and hierarchical cluster was performed for microRNAs or tissues using a single linkage metric. The result was shown using Java TreeView 1.1.3 (Created by Alok Saldanha). The data was displayed using color code.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbott, A. L., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Miska, E. A., Lau, N. C., Bartel, D. P., Horvitz, H. R., and Ambros, V. (2005). The *let-7* MicroRNA family members mir-48, mir-84, and mir-241 function together to regulate developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Dev Cell 9, 403-414.
- Abelson, J. F., Kwan, K. Y., O'Roak, B. J., Baek, D. Y., Stillman, A. A., Morgan, T. M., Mathews, C. A., Pauls, D. L., Rasin, M. R., Gunel, M., et al. (2005). Sequence variants in SLITRK1 are associated with Tourette's syndrome. Science 310, 317-320.
- Akao, Y., Nakagawa, Y., and Naoe, T. (2006). *let-7* microRNA functions as a potential growth suppressor in human colon cancer cells. Biol Pharm Bull 29, 903-906.
- Altiok, S., Xu, M., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1997). PPARgamma induces cell cycle withdrawal: inhibition of E2F/DP DNA-binding activity via down-regulation of PP2A. Genes Dev 11, 1987-1998.
- Ambros, V., Bartel, B., Bartel, D. P., Burge, C. B., Carrington, J. C., Chen, X., Dreyfuss, G., Eddy, S. R., Griffiths-Jones, S., Marshall, M., et al. (2003a). A uniform system for microRNA annotation. Rna 9, 277-279.
- Ambros, V., and Lee, R. C. (2004). Identification of microRNAs and other tiny noncoding RNAs by cDNA cloning. Methods Mol Biol 265, 131-158.
- Ambros, V., Lee, R. C., Lavanway, A., Williams, P. T., and Jewell, D. (2003b). MicroRNAs and other tiny endogenous RNAs in *C. elegans*. Curr Biol 13, 807-818.
- Anand, A., and Chada, K. (2000). *In vivo* modulation of Hmgic reduces obesity. Nat Genet 24, 377-380.
- Anderson, C., Catoe, H., and Werner, R. (2006). MIR-206 regulates connexin43 expression during skeletal muscle development. Nucleic Acids Res 34, 5863-5871.
- Andl, T., Murchison, E. P., Liu, F., Zhang, Y., Yunta-Gonzalez, M., Tobias, J. W., Andl, C. D., Seykora, J. T., Hannon, G. J., and Millar, S. E. (2006). The microRNA-processing enzyme dicer is essential for the morphogenesis and maintenance of hair follicles. Curr Biol 16, 1041-1049.
- Aouadi, M., Laurent, K., Prot, M., Le Marchand-Brustel, Y., Binetruy, B., and Bost, F. (2006). Inhibition of p38MAPK increases adipogenesis from embryonic to adult stages. Diabetes 55, 281-289.

- Arango, N. A., Szotek, P. P., Manganaro, T. F., Oliva, E., Donahoe, P. K., and Teixeira, J. (2005). Conditional deletion of beta-catenin in the mesenchyme of the developing mouse uterus results in a switch to adipogenesis in the myometrium. Dev Biol 288, 276-283.
- Asangani, I. A., Rasheed, S. A., Nikolova, D. A., Leupold, J. H., Colburn, N. H., Post, S., and Allgayer, H. (2008). MicroRNA-21 (miR-21) post-transcriptionally downregulates tumor suppressor Pdcd4 and stimulates invasion, intravasation and metastasis in colorectal cancer. Oncogene 27, 2128-2136.
- Ashar, H. R., Fejzo, M. S., Tkachenko, A., Zhou, X., Fletcher, J. A., Weremowicz, S., Morton, C. C., and Chada, K. (1995). Disruption of the architectural factor HMGI-C: DNA-binding AT hook motifs fused in lipomas to distinct transcriptional regulatory domains. Cell 82, 57-65.
- Banerjee, S. S., Feinberg, M. W., Watanabe, M., Gray, S., Haspel, R. L., Denkinger, D. J., Kawahara, R., Hauner, H., and Jain, M. K. (2003). The Kruppel-like factor KLF2 inhibits peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma expression and adipogenesis. J Biol Chem 278, 2581-2584.
- Barad, O., Meiri, E., Avniel, A., Aharonov, R., Barzilai, A., Bentwich, I., Einav, U., Gilad, S., Hurban, P., Karov, Y., et al. (2004). MicroRNA expression detected by oligonucleotide microarrays: system establishment and expression profiling in human tissues. Genome Res 14, 2486-2494.
- Barak, Y., Nelson, M. C., Ong, E. S., Jones, Y. Z., Ruiz-Lozano, P., Chien, K. R., Koder, A., and Evans, R. M. (1999). PPAR gamma is required for placental, cardiac, and adipose tissue development. Mol Cell 4, 585-595.
- Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116, 281-297.
- Batchvarova, N., Wang, X. Z., and Ron, D. (1995). Inhibition of adipogenesis by the stress-induced protein CHOP (Gadd153). Embo J 14, 4654-4661.
- Battista, S., Fidanza, V., Fedele, M., Klein-Szanto, A. J., Outwater, E., Brunner, H., Santoro, M., Croce, C. M., and Fusco, A. (1999). The expression of a truncated HMGI-C gene induces gigantism associated with lipomatosis. Cancer Res 59, 4793-4797.
- Behm-Ansmant, I., Rehwinkel, J., Doerks, T., Stark, A., Bork, P., and Izaurralde, E. (2006). mRNA degradation by microRNAs and GW182 requires both CCR4:NOT deadenylase and DCP1:DCP2 decapping complexes. Genes Dev 20, 1885-1898.

- Bernstein, E., Caudy, A. A., Hammond, S. M., and Hannon, G. J. (2001). Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature 409, 363-366.
- Bilen, J., Liu, N., Burnett, B. G., Pittman, R. N., and Bonini, N. M. (2006). MicroRNA pathways modulate polyglutamine-induced neurodegeneration. Mol Cell 24, 157-163.
- Birsoy, K., Chen, Z., and Friedman, J. (2008). Transcriptional regulation of adipogenesis by KLF4. Cell Metab 7, 339-347.
- Bookout, A. L., Jeong, Y., Downes, M., Yu, R. T., Evans, R. M., and Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2006). Anatomical profiling of nuclear receptor expression reveals a hierarchical transcriptional network. Cell 126, 789-799.
- Bookout A.L.and Mangelsdorf D.J. (2003).Quantitative real-time PCR protocol for analysis of nuclear receptor signaling pathways. Nucl Recept Signal.1:e012.
- Bost, F., Aouadi, M., Caron, L., and Binetruy, B. (2005). The role of MAPKs in adipocyte differentiation and obesity. Biochimie 87, 51-56.
- Boutz, P. L., Chawla, G., Stoilov, P., and Black, D. L. (2007). MicroRNAs regulate the expression of the alternative splicing factor nPTB during muscle development. Genes Dev 21, 71-84.
- Bowers, R. R., and Lane, M. D. (2007). A role for bone morphogenetic protein-4 in adipocyte development. Cell Cycle 6, 385-389.
- Boyerinas, B., Park, S. M., Shomron, N., Hedegaard, M. M., Vinther, J., Andersen, J. S., Feig, C., Xu, J., Burge, C. B., and Peter, M. E. (2008). Identification of *let-7*-regulated oncofetal genes. Cancer Res 68, 2587-2591.
- Brennecke, J., Hipfner, D. R., Stark, A., Russell, R. B., and Cohen, S. M. (2003). bantam encodes a developmentally regulated microRNA that controls cell proliferation and regulates the proapoptotic gene hid in *Drosophila*. Cell 113, 25-36.
- Bushati, N., and Cohen, S. M. (2007). microRNA functions. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 23, 175-205.
- Cai, X., Hagedorn, C. H., and Cullen, B. R. (2004). Human microRNAs are processed from capped, polyadenylated transcripts that can also function as mRNAs. Rna 10, 1957-1966.

- Calin, G. A., Dumitru, C. D., Shimizu, M., Bichi, R., Zupo, S., Noch, E., Aldler, H., Rattan, S., Keating, M., Rai, K., et al. (2002). Frequent deletions and down-regulation of micro- RNA genes miR15 and miR16 at 13q14 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 15524-15529.
- Callis, T. E., and Wang, D. Z. (2008). Taking microRNAs to heart. Trends Mol Med 14, 254-260.
- Camp, H. S., and Tafuri, S. R. (1997). Regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma activity by mitogen-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 272, 10811-10816.
- Cao, Z., Umek, R. M., and McKnight, S. L. (1991). Regulated expression of three C/EBP isoforms during adipose conversion of 3T3-L1 cells. Genes Dev 5, 1538-1552.
- Care, A., Catalucci, D., Felicetti, F., Bonci, D., Addario, A., Gallo, P., Bang, M. L., Segnalini, P., Gu, Y., Dalton, N. D., et al. (2007). MicroRNA-133 controls cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Med 13, 613-618.
- Castoldi, M., Benes, V., Hentze, M. W., and Muckenthaler, M. U. (2007). miChip: a microarray platform for expression profiling of microRNAs based on locked nucleic acid (LNA) oligonucleotide capture probes. Methods 43, 146-152.
- Castoldi, M., Schmidt, S., Benes, V., Hentze, M. W., and Muckenthaler, M. U. (2008). miChip: an array-based method for microRNA expression profiling using locked nucleic acid capture probes. Nat Protoc 3, 321-329.
- Castoldi, M., Schmidt, S., Benes, V., Noerholm, M., Kulozik, A. E., Hentze, M. W., and Muckenthaler, M. U. (2006). A sensitive array for microRNA expression profiling (miChip) based on locked nucleic acids (LNA). Rna 12, 913-920.
- Chan, J. A., Krichevsky, A. M., and Kosik, K. S. (2005). MicroRNA-21 is an antiapoptotic factor in human glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res 65, 6029-6033.
- Chang, S., Johnston, R. J., Jr., Frokjaer-Jensen, C., Lockery, S., and Hobert, O. (2004). MicroRNAs act sequentially and asymmetrically to control chemosensory laterality in the nematode. Nature 430, 785-789.
- Chang, T. C., Wentzel, E. A., Kent, O. A., Ramachandran, K., Mullendore, M., Lee, K. H., Feldmann, G., Yamakuchi, M., Ferlito, M., Lowenstein, C. J., et al. (2007). Transactivation of miR-34a by p53 broadly influences gene expression and promotes apoptosis. Mol Cell 26, 745-752.

- Chen, C., Ridzon, D. A., Broomer, A. J., Zhou, Z., Lee, D. H., Nguyen, J. T., Barbisin, M., Xu, N. L., Mahuvakar, V. R., Andersen, M. R., et al. (2005a). Real-time quantification of microRNAs by stem-loop RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 33, e179.
- Chen, J. F., Mandel, E. M., Thomson, J. M., Wu, Q., Callis, T. E., Hammond, S. M., Conlon, F. L., and Wang, D. Z. (2006). The role of microRNA-1 and microRNA-133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. Nat Genet 38, 228-233.
- Chen, P. L., Riley, D. J., Chen, Y., and Lee, W. H. (1996). Retinoblastoma protein positively regulates terminal adipocyte differentiation through direct interaction with C/EBPs. Genes Dev 10, 2794-2804.
- Chen, S. S., Chen, J. F., Johnson, P. F., Muppala, V., and Lee, Y. H. (2000). C/EBPbeta, when expressed from the C/ebpalpha gene locus, can functionally replace C/EBPalpha in liver but not in adipose tissue. Mol Cell Biol 20, 7292-7299.
- Chen, X. M., Splinter, P. L., O'Hara, S. P., and LaRusso, N. F. (2007). A cellular micro-RNA, *let-7i*, regulates Toll-like receptor 4 expression and contributes to cholangiocyte immune responses against Cryptosporidium parvum infection. J Biol Chem 282, 28929-28938.
- Chen, Y., and Stallings, R. L. (2007). Differential patterns of microRNA expression in neuroblastoma are correlated with prognosis, differentiation, and apoptosis. Cancer Res 67, 976-983.
- Chen, Z., Torrens, J. I., Anand, A., Spiegelman, B. M., and Friedman, J. M. (2005b). Krox20 stimulates adipogenesis via C/EBPbeta-dependent and -independent mechanisms. Cell Metab 1, 93-106.
- Chendrimada, T. P., Finn, K. J., Ji, X., Baillat, D., Gregory, R. I., Liebhaber, S. A., Pasquinelli, A. E., and Shiekhattar, R. (2007). MicroRNA silencing through RISC recruitment of eIF6. Nature 447, 823-828.
- Chendrimada, T. P., Gregory, R. I., Kumaraswamy, E., Norman, J., Cooch, N., Nishikura, K., and Shiekhattar, R. (2005). TRBP recruits the Dicer complex to Ago2 for microRNA processing and gene silencing. Nature 436, 740-744.
- Choy, L., and Derynck, R. (2003). Transforming growth factor-beta inhibits adipocyte differentiation by Smad3 interacting with CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP) and repressing C/EBP transactivation function. J Biol Chem 278, 9609-9619.
- Choy, L., Skillington, J., and Derynck, R. (2000). Roles of autocrine TGF-beta receptor and Smad signaling in adipocyte differentiation. J Cell Biol 149, 667-682.

- Christoffersen, C. T., Tornqvist, H., Vlahos, C. J., Bucchini, D., Jami, J., De Meyts, P., and Joshi, R. L. (1998). Insulin and Insulin-like Growth Factor-I Receptor Mediated Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells into Adipocytes: Effect of PI 3-Kinase Inhibition. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 246, 426-430.
- Cimmino, A., Calin, G. A., Fabbri, M., Iorio, M. V., Ferracin, M., Shimizu, M., Wojcik, S. E., Aqeilan, R. I., Zupo, S., Dono, M., et al. (2005). miR-15 and miR-16 induce apoptosis by targeting BCL2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 13944-13949.
- Clop, A., Marcq, F., Takeda, H., Pirottin, D., Tordoir, X., Bibe, B., Bouix, J., Caiment, F., Elsen, J. M., Eychenne, F., et al. (2006). A mutation creating a potential illegitimate microRNA target site in the myostatin gene affects muscularity in sheep. Nat Genet 38, 813-818.
- Clouthier, D. E., Comerford, S. A., and Hammer, R. E. (1997). Hepatic fibrosis, glomerulosclerosis, and a lipodystrophy-like syndrome in PEPCK-TGF-beta1 transgenic mice. J Clin Invest 100, 2697-2713.
- Cobb, B. S., Nesterova, T. B., Thompson, E., Hertweck, A., O'Connor, E., Godwin, J.,
 Wilson, C. B., Brockdorff, N., Fisher, A. G., Smale, S. T., and Merkenschlager, M. (2005). T cell lineage choice and differentiation in the absence of the RNase III enzyme Dicer. J Exp Med 201, 1367-1373.
- Conaco, C., Otto, S., Han, J. J., and Mandel, G. (2006). Reciprocal actions of REST and a microRNA promote neuronal identity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 2422-2427.
- Corney, D. C., Flesken-Nikitin, A., Godwin, A. K., Wang, W., and Nikitin, A. Y. (2007). MicroRNA-34b and MicroRNA-34c are targets of p53 and cooperate in control of cell proliferation and adhesion-independent growth. Cancer Res 67, 8433-8438.
- Costinean, S., Zanesi, N., Pekarsky, Y., Tili, E., Volinia, S., Heerema, N., and Croce, C. M. (2006). Pre-B cell proliferation and lymphoblastic leukemia/high-grade lymphoma in E(mu)-miR155 transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 7024-7029.
- Darlington, G. J., Ross, S. E., and MacDougald, O. A. (1998). The role of C/EBP genes in adipocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem 273, 30057-30060.
- DeGregori, J., and Johnson, D. G. (2006). Distinct and Overlapping Roles for E2F Family Members in Transcription, Proliferation and Apoptosis. Curr Mol Med 6, 739-748.
- Dews, M., Homayouni, A., Yu, D., Murphy, D., Sevignani, C., Wentzel, E., Furth, E. E., Lee, W. M., Enders, G. H., Mendell, J. T., and Thomas-Tikhonenko, A. (2006).

Augmentation of tumor angiogenesis by a Myc-activated microRNA cluster. Nat Genet 38, 1060-1065.

- Elmen, J., Lindow, M., Silahtaroglu, A., Bak, M., Christensen, M., Lind-Thomsen, A., Hedtjarn, M., Hansen, J. B., Hansen, H. F., Straarup, E. M., et al. (2008).
 Antagonism of microRNA-122 in mice by systemically administered LNA-antimiR leads to up-regulation of a large set of predicted target mRNAs in the liver. Nucleic Acids Res 36, 1153-1162.
- Engelman, J. A., Lisanti, M. P., and Scherer, P. E. (1998). Specific inhibitors of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase block 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. J Biol Chem 273, 32111-32120.
- Esau, C., Davis, S., Murray, S. F., Yu, X. X., Pandey, S. K., Pear, M., Watts, L., Booten, S.
 L., Graham, M., McKay, R., et al. (2006). miR-122 regulation of lipid metabolism revealed by *in vivo* antisense targeting. Cell Metab 3, 87-98.
- Esau, C., Kang, X., Peralta, E., Hanson, E., Marcusson, E. G., Ravichandran, L. V., Sun, Y., Koo, S., Perera, R. J., Jain, R., et al. (2004). MicroRNA-143 regulates adipocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem 279, 52361-52365.
- Esquela-Kerscher, A., Trang, P., Wiggins, J. F., Patrawala, L., Cheng, A., Ford, L., Weidhaas, J. B., Brown, D., Bader, A. G., and Slack, F. J. (2008). The *let-7* microRNA reduces tumor growth in mouse models of lung cancer. Cell Cycle 7, 759-764.
- Eulalio, A., Behm-Ansmant, I., and Izaurralde, E. (2007a). P bodies: at the crossroads of post-transcriptional pathways. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8, 9-22.
- Eulalio, A., Behm-Ansmant, I., Schweizer, D., and Izaurralde, E. (2007b). P-body formation is a consequence, not the cause, of RNA-mediated gene silencing. Mol Cell Biol 27, 3970-3981.
- Eulalio, A., Huntzinger, E., and Izaurralde, E. (2008). Getting to the root of microRNA-mediated gene silencing. Cell 132, 9-14.
- Eulalio, A., Rehwinkel, J., Stricker, M., Huntzinger, E., Yang, S. F., Doerks, T., Dorner, S., Bork, P., Boutros, M., and Izaurralde, E. (2007c). Target-specific requirements for enhancers of decapping in microRNA-mediated gene silencing. Genes Dev 21, 2558-2570.
- Fajas, L., Landsberg, R. L., Huss-Garcia, Y., Sardet, C., Lees, J. A., and Auwerx, J. (2002). E2Fs regulate adipocyte differentiation. Dev Cell 3, 39-49.

- Fasanaro, P., D'Alessandra, Y., Di Stefano, V., Melchionna, R., Romani, S., Pompilio, G., Capogrossi, M. C., and Martelli, F. (2008). MicroRNA-210 modulates endothelial cell response to hypoxia and inhibits the receptor tyrosine kinase ligand Ephrin-A3. J Biol Chem 283, 15878-15883.
- Fazi, F., Rosa, A., Fatica, A., Gelmetti, V., De Marchis, M. L., Nervi, C., and Bozzoni, I. (2005). A minicircuitry comprised of microRNA-223 and transcription factors NFI-A and C/EBPalpha regulates human granulopoiesis. Cell 123, 819-831.
- Fedele, M., Pierantoni, G. M., Visone, R., and Fusco, A. (2006). Critical role of the HMGA2 gene in pituitary adenomas. Cell Cycle 5, 2045-2048.
- Floyd, Z. E., and Stephens, J. M. (2003). STAT5A promotes adipogenesis in nonprecursor cells and associates with the glucocorticoid receptor during adipocyte differentiation. Diabetes 52, 308-314.
- Forman, B. M., Chen, J., and Evans, R. M. (1997). Hypolipidemic drugs, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and eicosanoids are ligands for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and delta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 4312-4317.
- Forman, B. M., Tontonoz, P., Chen, J., Brun, R. P., Spiegelman, B. M., and Evans, R. M. (1995). 15-Deoxy-delta 12, 14-prostaglandin J2 is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR gamma. Cell 83, 803-812.
- Forstemann, K., Tomari, Y., Du, T., Vagin, V. V., Denli, A. M., Bratu, D. P., Klattenhoff, C., Theurkauf, W. E., and Zamore, P. D. (2005). Normal microRNA maturation and germ-line stem cell maintenance requires Loquacious, a double-stranded RNA-binding domain protein. PLoS Biol 3, e236.
- Freytag, S. O., Paielli, D. L., and Gilbert, J. D. (1994). Ectopic expression of the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha promotes the adipogenic program in a variety of mouse fibroblastic cells. Genes Dev 8, 1654-1663.
- Fu, M., Sun, T., Bookout, A. L., Downes, M., Yu, R. T., Evans, R. M., and Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2005). A Nuclear Receptor Atlas: 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. Mol Endocrinol 19, 2437-2450.
- Galardi, S., Mercatelli, N., Giorda, E., Massalini, S., Frajese, G. V., Ciafre, S. A., and Farace, M. G. (2007). miR-221 and miR-222 expression affects the proliferation potential of human prostate carcinoma cell lines by targeting p27Kip1. J Biol Chem 282, 23716-23724.

- Gaur, A., Jewell, D. A., Liang, Y., Ridzon, D., Moore, J. H., Chen, C., Ambros, V. R., and Israel, M. A. (2007). Characterization of microRNA expression levels and their biological correlates in human cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 67, 2456-2468.
- Giannakakis, A., Sandaltzopoulos, R., Greshock, J., Liang, S., Huang, J., Hasegawa, K., Li, C., O'Brien-Jenkins, A., Katsaros, D., Weber, B. L., et al. (2007). miR-210 links hypoxia with cell cycle regulation and is deleted in human epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Biol Ther 7.
- Gillies, J. K., and Lorimer, I. A. (2007). Regulation of p27Kip1 by microRNA 221/222 in glioblastoma. Cell Cycle 6, 2005-2009.
- Giraldez, A. J., Mishima, Y., Rihel, J., Grocock, R. J., Van Dongen, S., Inoue, K., Enright, A. J., and Schier, A. F. (2006). Zebrafish MiR-430 promotes deadenylation and clearance of maternal mRNAs. Science 312, 75-79.
- Gray, S., Feinberg, M. W., Hull, S., Kuo, C. T., Watanabe, M., Sen-Banerjee, S., DePina, A., Haspel, R., and Jain, M. K. (2002). The Kruppel-like factor KLF15 regulates the insulin-sensitive glucose transporter GLUT4. J Biol Chem 277, 34322-34328.
- Green, H., and Meuth, M. (1974). An established pre-adipose cell line and its differentiation in culture. Cell 3, 127-133.
- Gregory, R. I., Yan, K. P., Amuthan, G., Chendrimada, T., Doratotaj, B., Cooch, N., and Shiekhattar, R. (2004). The Microprocessor complex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. Nature 432, 235-240.
- Grishok, A., Pasquinelli, A. E., Conte, D., Li, N., Parrish, S., Ha, I., Baillie, D. L., Fire, A., Ruvkun, G., and Mello, C. C. (2001). Genes and mechanisms related to RNA interference regulate expression of the small temporal RNAs that control *C. elegans* developmental timing. Cell 106, 23-34.
- Han, J., Lee, Y., Yeom, K. H., Kim, Y. K., Jin, H., and Kim, V. N. (2004). The Drosha-DGCR8 complex in primary microRNA processing. Genes Dev 18, 3016-3027.
- Harbour, J. W., and Dean, D. C. (2000). The Rb/E2F pathway: expanding roles and emerging paradigms. Genes Dev 14, 2393-2409.
- Harfe, B. D., McManus, M. T., Mansfield, J. H., Hornstein, E., and Tabin, C. J. (2005). The RNaseIII enzyme Dicer is required for morphogenesis but not patterning of the vertebrate limb. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 10898-10903.

- Harris, K. S., Zhang, Z., McManus, M. T., Harfe, B. D., and Sun, X. (2006). Dicer function is essential for lung epithelium morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 2208-2213.
- Hata, K., Nishimura, R., Ikeda, F., Yamashita, K., Matsubara, T., Nokubi, T., and Yoneda, T. (2003). Differential roles of Smad1 and p38 kinase in regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activating receptor gamma during bone morphogenetic protein 2-induced adipogenesis. Mol Biol Cell 14, 545-555.
- He, A., Zhu, L., Gupta, N., Chang, Y., and Fang, F. (2007a). Overexpression of micro ribonucleic acid 29, highly up-regulated in diabetic rats, leads to insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Endocrinol 21, 2785-2794.
- He, H., Jazdzewski, K., Li, W., Liyanarachchi, S., Nagy, R., Volinia, S., Calin, G. A., Liu, C. G., Franssila, K., Suster, S., et al. (2005a). The role of microRNA genes in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 19075-19080.
- He, L., He, X., Lim, L. P., de Stanchina, E., Xuan, Z., Liang, Y., Xue, W., Zender, L., Magnus, J., Ridzon, D., et al. (2007b). A microRNA component of the p53 tumour suppressor network. Nature 447, 1130-1134.
- He, L., Thomson, J. M., Hemann, M. T., Hernando-Monge, E., Mu, D., Goodson, S., Powers, S., Cordon-Cardo, C., Lowe, S. W., Hannon, G. J., and Hammond, S. M. (2005b). A microRNA polycistron as a potential human oncogene. Nature 435, 828-833.

Hermeking, H. (2007). p53 enters the microRNA world. Cancer Cell 12, 414-418.Hooper, J. E., and Scott, M. P. (2005). Communicating with Hedgehogs. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6, 306-317.

- Hornstein, E., Mansfield, J. H., Yekta, S., Hu, J. K., Harfe, B. D., McManus, M. T., Baskerville, S., Bartel, D. P., and Tabin, C. J. (2005). The microRNA miR-196 acts upstream of Hoxb8 and Shh in limb development. Nature 438, 671-674.
- Hu, E., Kim, J. B., Sarraf, P., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1996). Inhibition of adipogenesis through MAP kinase-mediated phosphorylation of PPARgamma. Science 274, 2100-2103.
- Hutley, L., Shurety, W., Newell, F., McGeary, R., Pelton, N., Grant, J., Herington, A., Cameron, D., Whitehead, J., and Prins, J. (2004). Fibroblast growth factor 1: a key regulator of human adipogenesis. Diabetes 53, 3097-3106.

- Hutvagner, G., McLachlan, J., Pasquinelli, A. E., Balint, E., Tuschl, T., and Zamore, P. D. (2001). A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the *let-7* small temporal RNA. Science 293, 834-838.
- Imai, T., Takakuwa, R., Marchand, S., Dentz, E., Bornert, J. M., Messaddeq, N., Wendling, O., Mark, M., Desvergne, B., Wahli, W., et al. (2004). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is required in mature white and brown adipocytes for their survival in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 4543-4547.
- Iorio, M. V., Ferracin, M., Liu, C. G., Veronese, A., Spizzo, R., Sabbioni, S., Magri, E., Pedriali, M., Fabbri, M., Campiglio, M., et al. (2005). MicroRNA gene expression deregulation in human breast cancer. Cancer Res 65, 7065-7070.
- Jimenez, M. A., Akerblad, P., Sigvardsson, M., and Rosen, E. D. (2007). Critical role for Ebf1 and Ebf2 in the adipogenic transcriptional cascade. Mol Cell Biol 27, 743-757.
- Jin, P., Zarnescu, D. C., Ceman, S., Nakamoto, M., Mowrey, J., Jongens, T. A., Nelson, D. L., Moses, K., and Warren, S. T. (2004). Biochemical and genetic interaction between the fragile X mental retardation protein and the microRNA pathway. Nat Neurosci 7, 113-117.
- Jin, W., Takagi, T., Kanesashi, S. N., Kurahashi, T., Nomura, T., Harada, J., and Ishii, S. (2006). Schnurri-2 controls BMP-dependent adipogenesis via interaction with Smad proteins. Dev Cell 10, 461-471.
- Johnson, C. D., Esquela-Kerscher, A., Stefani, G., Byrom, M., Kelnar, K., Ovcharenko, D., Wilson, M., Wang, X., Shelton, J., Shingara, J., et al. (2007). The *let-7* microRNA represses cell proliferation pathways in human cells. Cancer Res 67, 7713-7722.
- Johnson, S. M., Grosshans, H., Shingara, J., Byrom, M., Jarvis, R., Cheng, A., Labourier, E., Reinert, K. L., Brown, D., and Slack, F. J. (2005). RAS is regulated by the *let-7* microRNA family. Cell 120, 635-647.
- Johnson, S. M., Lin, S. Y., and Slack, F. J. (2003). The time of appearance of the *C. elegans let-7* microRNA is transcriptionally controlled utilizing a temporal regulatory element in its promoter. Dev Biol 259, 364-379.
- Johnston, R. J., and Hobert, O. (2003). A microRNA controlling left/right neuronal asymmetry in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 426, 845-849.
- Johnston, R. J., Jr., Chang, S., Etchberger, J. F., Ortiz, C. O., and Hobert, O. (2005). MicroRNAs acting in a double-negative feedback loop to control a neuronal cell fate decision. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 12449-12454.

- Jongen-Lavrencic, M., Sun, S. M., Dijkstra, M. K., Valk, P. J., and Lowenberg, B. (2008). MicroRNA expression profiling in relation to the genetic heterogeneity of acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 111, 5078-5085.
- Kajimoto, K., Naraba, H., and Iwai, N. (2006). MicroRNA and 3T3-L1 pre-adipocyte differentiation. Rna 12, 1626-1632.
- Kakudo, N., Shimotsuma, A., and Kusumoto, K. (2007). Fibroblast growth factor-2 stimulates adipogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 359, 239-244.
- Kanazawa, A., Kawamura, Y., Sekine, A., Iida, A., Tsunoda, T., Kashiwagi, A., Tanaka, Y., Babazono, T., Matsuda, M., Kawai, K., et al. (2005a). Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the gene encoding Kruppel-like factor 7 are associated with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 48, 1315-1322.
- Kanazawa, A., Tsukada, S., Kamiyama, M., Yanagimoto, T., Nakajima, M., and Maeda, S. (2005b). Wnt5b partially inhibits canonical Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway and promotes adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 330, 505-510.
- Kanellopoulou, C., Muljo, S. A., Kung, A. L., Ganesan, S., Drapkin, R., Jenuwein, T., Livingston, D. M., and Rajewsky, K. (2005). Dicer-deficient mouse embryonic stem cells are defective in differentiation and centromeric silencing. Genes Dev 19, 489-501.
- Karres, J. S., Hilgers, V., Carrera, I., Treisman, J., and Cohen, S. M. (2007). The conserved microRNA miR-8 tunes atrophin levels to prevent neurodegeneration in *Drosophila*. Cell 131, 136-145.
- Ketting, R. F., Fischer, S. E., Bernstein, E., Sijen, T., Hannon, G. J., and Plasterk, R. H. (2001). Dicer functions in RNA interference and in synthesis of small RNA involved in developmental timing in *C. elegans*. Genes Dev 15, 2654-2659.
- Khvorova, A., Reynolds, A., and Jayasena, S. D. (2003). Functional siRNAs and microRNAs exhibit strand bias. Cell 115, 209-216.
- Kim, J. B., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1996). ADD1/SREBP1 promotes adipocyte differentiation and gene expression linked to fatty acid metabolism. Genes Dev 10, 1096-1107.

- Kim, J. B., Wright, H. M., Wright, M., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1998). ADD1/SREBP1 activates PPARgamma through the production of endogenous ligand. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 4333-4337.
- Kim, V. N., and Nam, J. W. (2006). Genomics of microRNA. Trends Genet 22, 165-173.
- Kiriakidou, M., Tan, G. S., Lamprinaki, S., De Planell-Saguer, M., Nelson, P. T., and Mourelatos, Z. (2007). An mRNA m7G cap binding-like motif within human Ago2 represses translation. Cell 129, 1141-1151.
- Klemm, D. J., Leitner, J. W., Watson, P., Nesterova, A., Reusch, J. E., Goalstone, M. L., and Draznin, B. (2001). Insulin-induced adipocyte differentiation. Activation of CREB rescues adipogenesis from the arrest caused by inhibition of prenylation. J Biol Chem 276, 28430-28435.
- Kliewer, S. A., Lenhard, J. M., Willson, T. M., Patel, I., Morris, D. C., and Lehmann, J. M. (1995). A prostaglandin J2 metabolite binds peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and promotes adipocyte differentiation. Cell 83, 813-819.
- Kliewer, S. A., Sundseth, S. S., Jones, S. A., Brown, P. J., Wisely, G. B., Koble, C. S., Devchand, P., Wahli, W., Willson, T. M., Lenhard, J. M., and Lehmann, J. M. (1997). Fatty acids and eicosanoids regulate gene expression through direct interactions with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 4318-4323.
- Krutzfeldt, J., Poy, M. N., and Stoffel, M. (2006). Strategies to determine the biological function of microRNAs. Nat Genet 38 Suppl, S14-19.
- Krutzfeldt, J., Rajewsky, N., Braich, R., Rajeev, K. G., Tuschl, T., Manoharan, M., and Stoffel, M. (2005). Silencing of microRNAs *in vivo* with 'antagomirs'. Nature 438, 685-689.
- Kumar, M. S., Erkeland, S. J., Pester, R. E., Chen, C. Y., Ebert, M. S., Sharp, P. A., and Jacks, T. (2008). Suppression of non-small cell lung tumor development by the *let-7* microRNA family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105, 3903-3908.
- Kuri-Harcuch, W., and Green, H. (1978). Adipose conversion of 3T3 cells depends on a serum factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75, 6107-6109.
- Kwon, C., Han, Z., Olson, E. N., and Srivastava, D. (2005). MicroRNA1 influences cardiac differentiation in *Drosophila* and regulates Notch signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 18986-18991.

- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Lendeckel, W., and Tuschl, T. (2001). Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. Science 294, 853-858.
- Landthaler, M., Yalcin, A., and Tuschl, T. (2004). The human DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8 and Its D. melanogaster homolog are required for microRNA biogenesis. Curr Biol 14, 2162-2167.
- Lau, N. C., Lim, L. P., Weinstein, E. G., and Bartel, D. P. (2001). An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 294, 858-862.
- le Sage, C., Nagel, R., Egan, D. A., Schrier, M., Mesman, E., Mangiola, A., Anile, C., Maira, G., Mercatelli, N., Ciafre, S. A., et al. (2007). Regulation of the p27(Kip1) tumor suppressor by miR-221 and miR-222 promotes cancer cell proliferation. Embo J 26, 3699-3708.
- Leaman, D., Chen, P. Y., Fak, J., Yalcin, A., Pearce, M., Unnerstall, U., Marks, D. S., Sander, C., Tuschl, T., and Gaul, U. (2005). Antisense-mediated depletion reveals essential and specific functions of microRNAs in *Drosophila* development. Cell 121, 1097-1108.
- Lecellier, C. H., Dunoyer, P., Arar, K., Lehmann-Che, J., Eyquem, S., Himber, C., Saib, A., and Voinnet, O. (2005). A cellular microRNA mediates antiviral defense in human cells. Science 308, 557-560.
- Lee, J. W., Choi, C. H., Choi, J. J., Park, Y. A., Kim, S. J., Hwang, S. Y., Kim, W. Y., Kim, T. J., Lee, J. H., Kim, B. G., and Bae, D. S. (2008). Altered MicroRNA expression in cervical carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res 14, 2535-2542.
- Lee, K., Villena, J. A., Moon, Y. S., Kim, K. H., Lee, S., Kang, C., and Sul, H. S. (2003a). Inhibition of adipogenesis and development of glucose intolerance by soluble preadipocyte factor-1 (Pref-1). J Clin Invest 111, 453-461.
- Lee, R. C., and Ambros, V. (2001). An extensive class of small RNAs in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 294, 862-864.
- Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L., and Ambros, V. (1993). The *C. elegans* heterochronic gene *lin-4* encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell 75, 843-854.
- Lee, Y., Ahn, C., Han, J., Choi, H., Kim, J., Yim, J., Lee, J., Provost, P., Radmark, O., Kim, S., and Kim, V. N. (2003b). The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. Nature 425, 415-419.

- Lee, Y., Jeon, K., Lee, J. T., Kim, S., and Kim, V. N. (2002). MicroRNA maturation: stepwise processing and subcellular localization. Embo J 21, 4663-4670.
- Lee, Y., Kim, M., Han, J., Yeom, K. H., Lee, S., Baek, S. H., and Kim, V. N. (2004). MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. Embo J 23, 4051-4060.
- Lee, Y. S., and Dutta, A. (2007). The tumor suppressor microRNA *let-7* represses the HMGA2 oncogene. Genes Dev 21, 1025-1030.
- Lehmann, J. M., Moore, L. B., Smith-Oliver, T. A., Wilkison, W. O., Willson, T. M., and Kliewer, S. A. (1995). An antidiabetic thiazolidinedione is a high affinity ligand for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR gamma). J Biol Chem 270, 12953-12956.
- Leuschner, P. J., Obernosterer, G., and Martinez, J. (2005). MicroRNAs: Loquacious speaks out. Curr Biol 15, R603-605.
- Lewis, B. P., Burge, C. B., and Bartel, D. P. (2005). Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell 120, 15-20.
- Lewis, B. P., Shih, I. H., Jones-Rhoades, M. W., Bartel, D. P., and Burge, C. B. (2003). Prediction of mammalian microRNA targets. Cell 115, 787-798.
- Li, D., Yea, S., Li, S., Chen, Z., Narla, G., Banck, M., Laborda, J., Tan, S., Friedman, J. M., Friedman, S. L., and Walsh, M. J. (2005). Kruppel-like factor-6 promotes preadipocyte differentiation through histone deacetylase 3-dependent repression of DLK1. J Biol Chem 280, 26941-26952.
- Li, Q. J., Chau, J., Ebert, P. J., Sylvester, G., Min, H., Liu, G., Braich, R., Manoharan, M., Soutschek, J., Skare, P., et al. (2007). miR-181a is an intrinsic modulator of T cell sensitivity and selection. Cell 129, 147-161.
- Li, X., and Carthew, R. W. (2005). A microRNA mediates EGF receptor signaling and promotes photoreceptor differentiation in the *Drosophila* eye. Cell 123, 1267-1277.
- Li, Y., Wang, F., Lee, J. A., and Gao, F. B. (2006). MicroRNA-9a ensures the precise specification of sensory organ precursors in *Drosophila*. Genes Dev 20, 2793-2805.
- Liang, Y., Ridzon, D., Wong, L., and Chen, C. (2007). Characterization of microRNA expression profiles in normal human tissues. BMC Genomics 8, 166.

- Lim, L. P., Lau, N. C., Garrett-Engele, P., Grimson, A., Schelter, J. M., Castle, J., Bartel, D. P., Linsley, P. S., and Johnson, J. M. (2005). Microarray analysis shows that some microRNAs downregulate large numbers of target mRNAs. Nature 433, 769-773.
- Lin, F. T., and Lane, M. D. (1992). Antisense CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein RNA suppresses coordinate gene expression and triglyceride accumulation during differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. Genes Dev 6, 533-544.
- Lin, F. T., and Lane, M. D. (1994). CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha is sufficient to initiate the 3T3-L1 adipocyte differentiation program. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91, 8757-8761.
- Lin, H. H., Xiong, Y., Ho, Y. S., Zhou, B., Nguyen, H. V., Deng, H., Lee, R., Yen, Y., Borok, Z., and Ann, D. K. (2007). Transcriptional regulation by targeted expression of architectural transcription factor high mobility group A2 in salivary glands of transgenic mice. Eur J Oral Sci 115, 30-39.
- Lindsay, E. A. (2001). Chromosomal microdeletions: dissecting del22q11 syndrome. Nat Rev Genet 2, 858-868.
- Linhart, H. G., Ishimura-Oka, K., DeMayo, F., Kibe, T., Repka, D., Poindexter, B., Bick, R. J., and Darlington, G. J. (2001). C/EBPalpha is required for differentiation of white, but not brown, adipose tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 12532-12537.
- Liu, C. G., Calin, G. A., Meloon, B., Gamliel, N., Sevignani, C., Ferracin, M., Dumitru, C. D., Shimizu, M., Zupo, S., Dono, M., et al. (2004a). An oligonucleotide microchip for genome-wide microRNA profiling in human and mouse tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 9740-9744.
- Liu, J., Carmell, M. A., Rivas, F. V., Marsden, C. G., Thomson, J. M., Song, J. J., Hammond, S. M., Joshua-Tor, L., and Hannon, G. J. (2004b). Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science 305, 1437-1441.
- Longo, K. A., Wright, W. S., Kang, S., Gerin, I., Chiang, S. H., Lucas, P. C., Opp, M. R., and MacDougald, O. A. (2004). Wnt10b inhibits development of white and brown adipose tissues. J Biol Chem 279, 35503-35509.
- Lovis, P., Gattesco, S., and Regazzi, R. (2008). Regulation of the expression of components of the exocytotic machinery of insulin-secreting cells by microRNAs. Biol Chem 389, 305-312.
- Lu, J., Getz, G., Miska, E. A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Lamb, J., Peck, D., Sweet-Cordero, A., Ebert, B. L., Mak, R. H., Ferrando, A. A., et al. (2005). MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. Nature 435, 834-838.

- Lu, L., Katsaros, D., de la Longrais, I. A., Sochirca, O., and Yu, H. (2007).
 Hypermethylation of *let-7a-3* in epithelial ovarian cancer is associated with low insulin-like growth factor-II expression and favorable prognosis. Cancer Res 67, 10117-10122.
- Lu, Z., Liu, M., Stribinskis, V., Klinge, C. M., Ramos, K. S., Colburn, N. H., and Li, Y. (2008). MicroRNA-21 promotes cell transformation by targeting the programmed cell death 4 gene. Oncogene.
- Lund, E., Guttinger, S., Calado, A., Dahlberg, J. E., and Kutay, U. (2004). Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. Science 303, 95-98.
- Makeyev, E. V., Zhang, J., Carrasco, M. A., and Maniatis, T. (2007). The MicroRNA miR-124 promotes neuronal differentiation by triggering brain-specific alternative pre-mRNA splicing. Mol Cell 27, 435-448.
- Mayr, C., Hemann, M. T., and Bartel, D. P. (2007). Disrupting the pairing between *let-7* and Hmga2 enhances oncogenic transformation. Science 315, 1576-1579.
- Maziere, P., and Enright, A. J. (2007). Prediction of microRNA targets. Drug Discov Today 12, 452-458.
- McCarthy, J. J. (2008). MicroRNA-206: The skeletal muscle-specific myomiR. Biochim Biophys Acta.
- Medina-Gomez, G., Virtue, S., Lelliott, C., Boiani, R., Campbell, M., Christodoulides, C., Perrin, C., Jimenez-Linan, M., Blount, M., Dixon, J., et al. (2005). The link between nutritional status and insulin sensitivity is dependent on the adipocyte-specific peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma2 isoform. Diabetes 54, 1706-1716.
- Meister, G., Landthaler, M., Patkaniowska, A., Dorsett, Y., Teng, G., and Tuschl, T. (2004). Human Argonaute2 mediates RNA cleavage targeted by microRNAs and siRNAs. Mol Cell 15, 185-197.
- Mendell, J. T. (2008). miRiad roles for the miR-17-92 cluster in development and disease. Cell 133, 217-222.
- Meng, F., Henson, R., Wehbe-Janek, H., Ghoshal, K., Jacob, S. T., and Patel, T. (2007a). MicroRNA-21 regulates expression of the PTEN tumor suppressor gene in human hepatocellular cancer. Gastroenterology 133, 647-658.

- Meng, F., Henson, R., Wehbe-Janek, H., Smith, H., Ueno, Y., and Patel, T. (2007b). The MicroRNA *let-7a* modulates interleukin-6-dependent STAT-3 survival signaling in malignant human cholangiocytes. J Biol Chem 282, 8256-8264.
- Menghini, R., Marchetti, V., Cardellini, M., Hribal, M. L., Mauriello, A., Lauro, D., Sbraccia, P., Lauro, R., and Federici, M. (2005). Phosphorylation of GATA2 by Akt increases adipose tissue differentiation and reduces adipose tissue-related inflammation: a novel pathway linking obesity to atherosclerosis. Circulation 111, 1946-1953.
- Mersey, B. D., Jin, P., and Danner, D. J. (2005). Human microRNA (miR29b) expression controls the amount of branched chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase complex in a cell. Hum Mol Genet 14, 3371-3377.
- Michael, M. Z., SM, O. C., van Holst Pellekaan, N. G., Young, G. P., and James, R. J. (2003). Reduced accumulation of specific microRNAs in colorectal neoplasia. Mol Cancer Res 1, 882-891.
- Miska, E. A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Townsend, M., Yoshii, A., Sestan, N., Rakic, P., Constantine-Paton, M., and Horvitz, H. R. (2004). Microarray analysis of microRNA expression in the developing mammalian brain. Genome Biol 5, R68.
- Moon, Y. S., Smas, C. M., Lee, K., Villena, J. A., Kim, K. H., Yun, E. J., and Sul, H. S. (2002). Mice lacking paternally expressed Pref-1/Dlk1 display growth retardation and accelerated adiposity. Mol Cell Biol 22, 5585-5592.
- Mori, T., Sakaue, H., Iguchi, H., Gomi, H., Okada, Y., Takashima, Y., Nakamura, K., Nakamura, T., Yamauchi, T., Kubota, N., et al. (2005). Role of Kruppel-like factor 15 (KLF15) in transcriptional regulation of adipogenesis. J Biol Chem 280, 12867-12875.
- Morrison, R. F., and Farmer, S. R. (1999). Role of PPARgamma in regulating a cascade expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, p18(INK4c) and p21(Waf1/Cip1), during adipogenesis. J Biol Chem 274, 17088-17097.
- Mott, J. L., Kobayashi, S., Bronk, S. F., and Gores, G. J. (2007). mir-29 regulates Mcl-1 protein expression and apoptosis. Oncogene 26, 6133-6140.
- Mourelatos, Z., Dostie, J., Paushkin, S., Sharma, A., Charroux, B., Abel, L., Rappsilber, J., Mann, M., and Dreyfuss, G. (2002). miRNPs: a novel class of ribonucleoproteins containing numerous microRNAs. Genes Dev 16, 720-728.
- Mueller, E., Drori, S., Aiyer, A., Yie, J., Sarraf, P., Chen, H., Hauser, S., Rosen, E. D., Ge, K., Roeder, R. G., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2002). Genetic analysis of adipogenesis

through peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma isoforms. J Biol Chem 277, 41925-41930.

- Murchison, E. P., Partridge, J. F., Tam, O. H., Cheloufi, S., and Hannon, G. J. (2005). Characterization of Dicer-deficient murine embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 12135-12140.
- Nakae, J., Kitamura, T., Kitamura, Y., Biggs, W. H., 3rd, Arden, K. C., and Accili, D. (2003). The forkhead transcription factor Foxo1 regulates adipocyte differentiation. Dev Cell 4, 119-129.
- Nanbu-Wakao, R., Morikawa, Y., Matsumura, I., Masuho, Y., Muramatsu, M. A., Senba, E., and Wakao, H. (2002). Stimulation of 3T3-L1 adipogenesis by signal transducer and activator of transcription 5. Mol Endocrinol 16, 1565-1576.
- Nelson, P. T., Baldwin, D. A., Scearce, L. M., Oberholtzer, J. C., Tobias, J. W., and Mourelatos, Z. (2004). Microarray-based, high-throughput gene expression profiling of microRNAs. Nat Methods 1, 155-161.
- Neubauer, M., Fischbach, C., Bauer-Kreisel, P., Lieb, E., Hacker, M., Tessmar, J., Schulz, M. B., Goepferich, A., and Blunk, T. (2004). Basic fibroblast growth factor enhances PPARgamma ligand-induced adipogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells. FEBS Lett 577, 277-283.
- Newell, F. S., Su, H., Tornqvist, H., Whitehead, J. P., Prins, J. B., and Hutley, L. J. (2006). Characterization of the transcriptional and functional effects of fibroblast growth factor-1 on human preadipocyte differentiation. Faseb J 20, 2615-2617.
- Nottrott, S., Simard, M. J., and Richter, J. D. (2006). Human *let-7*a microRNA blocks protein production on actively translating polyribosomes. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13, 1108-1114.
- O'Donnell, K. A., Wentzel, E. A., Zeller, K. I., Dang, C. V., and Mendell, J. T. (2005). c-Myc-regulated microRNAs modulate E2F1 expression. Nature 435, 839-843.
- O'Donnell, W. T., and Warren, S. T. (2002). A decade of molecular studies of fragile X syndrome. Annu Rev Neurosci 25, 315-338.
- Okamura, K., Ishizuka, A., Siomi, H., and Siomi, M. C. (2004). Distinct roles for Argonaute proteins in small RNA-directed RNA cleavage pathways. Genes Dev 18, 1655-1666.
- Park, S. M., Shell, S., Radjabi, A. R., Schickel, R., Feig, C., Boyerinas, B., Dinulescu, D. M., Lengyel, E., and Peter, M. E. (2007). *Let-7* prevents early cancer progression by suppressing expression of the embryonic gene HMGA2. Cell Cycle 6, 2585-2590.

- Pekarsky, Y., Santanam, U., Cimmino, A., Palamarchuk, A., Efanov, A., Maximov, V., Volinia, S., Alder, H., Liu, C. G., Rassenti, L., et al. (2006). Tcl1 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia is regulated by miR-29 and miR-181. Cancer Res 66, 11590-11593.
- Petersen, C. P., Bordeleau, M. E., Pelletier, J., and Sharp, P. A. (2006). Short RNAs repress translation after initiation in mammalian cells. Mol Cell 21, 533-542.
- Pillai, R. S. (2005). MicroRNA function: multiple mechanisms for a tiny RNA? Rna 11, 1753-1761.
- Plaisance, V., Abderrahmani, A., Perret-Menoud, V., Jacquemin, P., Lemaigre, F., and Regazzi, R. (2006). MicroRNA-9 controls the expression of Granuphilin/Slp4 and the secretory response of insulin-producing cells. J Biol Chem 281, 26932-26942.
- Poy, M. N., Eliasson, L., Krutzfeldt, J., Kuwajima, S., Ma, X., Macdonald, P. E., Pfeffer, S., Tuschl, T., Rajewsky, N., Rorsman, P., and Stoffel, M. (2004). A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. Nature 432, 226-230.
- Prestwich, T. C., and Macdougald, O. A. (2007). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in adipogenesis and metabolism. Curr Opin Cell Biol 19, 612-617.
- Pulkkinen, K., Malm, T., Turunen, M., Koistinaho, J., and Yla-Herttuala, S. (2008).
 Hypoxia induces microRNA miR-210 *in vitro* and *in vivo* Ephrin-A3 and neuronal pentraxin 1 are potentially regulated by miR-210. FEBS Lett 582, 2397-2401.
- Rajewsky, N. (2006). microRNA target predictions in animals. Nat Genet 38 Suppl, S8-13.
- Raver-Shapira, N., Marciano, E., Meiri, E., Spector, Y., Rosenfeld, N., Moskovits, N., Bentwich, Z., and Oren, M. (2007). Transcriptional activation of miR-34a contributes to p53-mediated apoptosis. Mol Cell 26, 731-743.
- Rehwinkel, J., Natalin, P., Stark, A., Brennecke, J., Cohen, S. M., and Izaurralde, E. (2006). Genome-wide analysis of mRNAs regulated by Drosha and Argonaute proteins in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Mol Cell Biol 26, 2965-2975.
- Reinhart, B. J., Slack, F. J., Basson, M., Pasquinelli, A. E., Bettinger, J. C., Rougvie, A. E., Horvitz, H. R., and Ruvkun, G. (2000). The 21-nucleotide *let-7* RNA regulates developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 403, 901-906.
- Rhoades, M. W., Reinhart, B. J., Lim, L. P., Burge, C. B., Bartel, B., and Bartel, D. P. (2002). Prediction of plant microRNA targets. Cell 110, 513-520.

- Rodriguez, A., Griffiths-Jones, S., Ashurst, J. L., and Bradley, A. (2004). Identification of mammalian microRNA host genes and transcription units. Genome Res 14, 1902-1910.
- Rodriguez, A., Vigorito, E., Clare, S., Warren, M. V., Couttet, P., Soond, D. R., van Dongen, S., Grocock, R. J., Das, P. P., Miska, E. A., et al. (2007). Requirement of bic/microRNA-155 for normal immune function. Science 316, 608-611.
- Roelen, B. A., and Dijke, P. (2003). Controlling mesenchymal stem cell differentiation by TGFBeta family members. J Orthop Sci 8, 740-748.
- Ronshaugen, M., Biemar, F., Piel, J., Levine, M., and Lai, E. C. (2005). The *Drosophila* microRNA iab-4 causes a dominant homeotic transformation of halteres to wings. Genes Dev 19, 2947-2952.
- Rosen, E. D. (2005). The transcriptional basis of adipocyte development. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 73, 31-34.
- Rosen, E. D., Hsu, C. H., Wang, X., Sakai, S., Freeman, M. W., Gonzalez, F. J., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2002). C/EBPalpha induces adipogenesis through PPARgamma: a unified pathway. Genes Dev 16, 22-26.
- Rosen, E. D., and MacDougald, O. A. (2006). Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7, 885-896.
- Rosen, E. D., Sarraf, P., Troy, A. E., Bradwin, G., Moore, K., Milstone, D. S., Spiegelman, B. M., and Mortensen, R. M. (1999). PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Mol Cell 4, 611-617.
- Rosen, E. D., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2000). Molecular regulation of adipogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 16, 145-171.
- Rosenberg, M. I., Georges, S. A., Asawachaicharn, A., Analau, E., and Tapscott, S. J. (2006). MyoD inhibits Fstl1 and Utrn expression by inducing transcription of miR-206. J Cell Biol 175, 77-85.
- Saito, K., Ishizuka, A., Siomi, H., and Siomi, M. C. (2005). Processing of pre-microRNAs by the Dicer-1-Loquacious complex in *Drosophila* cells. PLoS Biol 3, e235.
- Sakaue, H., Konishi, M., Ogawa, W., Asaki, T., Mori, T., Yamasaki, M., Takata, M., Ueno, H., Kato, S., Kasuga, M., and Itoh, N. (2002). Requirement of fibroblast growth factor 10 in development of white adipose tissue. Genes Dev 16, 908-912.

- Sampson, V. B., Rong, N. H., Han, J., Yang, Q., Aris, V., Soteropoulos, P., Petrelli, N. J., Dunn, S. P., and Krueger, L. J. (2007). MicroRNA *let-7*a down-regulates MYC and reverts MYC-induced growth in Burkitt lymphoma cells. Cancer Res 67, 9762-9770.
- Schoenmakers, E. F., Wanschura, S., Mols, R., Bullerdiek, J., Van den Berghe, H., and Van de Ven, W. J. (1995). Recurrent rearrangements in the high mobility group protein gene, HMGI-C, in benign mesenchymal tumours. Nat Genet 10, 436-444.
- Schratt, G. M., Tuebing, F., Nigh, E. A., Kane, C. G., Sabatini, M. E., Kiebler, M., and Greenberg, M. E. (2006). A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. Nature 439, 283-289.
- Schwarz, D. S., Hutvagner, G., Du, T., Xu, Z., Aronin, N., and Zamore, P. D. (2003). Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. Cell 115, 199-208.
- Sempere, L. F., Freemantle, S., Pitha-Rowe, I., Moss, E., Dmitrovsky, E., and Ambros, V. (2004). Expression profiling of mammalian microRNAs uncovers a subset of brain-expressed microRNAs with possible roles in murine and human neuronal differentiation. Genome Biol 5, R13.
- Shell, S., Park, S. M., Radjabi, A. R., Schickel, R., Kistner, E. O., Jewell, D. A., Feig, C., Lengyel, E., and Peter, M. E. (2007). *Let-7* expression defines two differentiation stages of cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 11400-11405.
- Shimba, S., Ishii, N., Ohta, Y., Ohno, T., Watabe, Y., Hayashi, M., Wada, T., Aoyagi, T., and Tezuka, M. (2005). Brain and muscle Arnt-like protein-1 (BMAL1), a component of the molecular clock, regulates adipogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 12071-12076.
- Shimba, S., Wada, T., Hara, S., and Tezuka, M. (2004). EPAS1 promotes adipose differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells. J Biol Chem 279, 40946-40953.
- Singh, R., Artaza, J. N., Taylor, W. E., Braga, M., Yuan, X., Gonzalez-Cadavid, N. F., and Bhasin, S. (2006). Testosterone inhibits adipogenic differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells: nuclear translocation of androgen receptor complex with beta-catenin and T-cell factor 4 may bypass canonical Wnt signaling to down-regulate adipogenic transcription factors. Endocrinology 147, 141-154.
- Smas, C. M., Chen, L., Zhao, L., Latasa, M. J., and Sul, H. S. (1999). Transcriptional repression of pref-1 by glucocorticoids promotes 3T3-L1 adipocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem 274, 12632-12641.
- Smas, C. M., and Sul, H. S. (1993). Pref-1, a protein containing EGF-like repeats, inhibits adipocyte differentiation. Cell 73, 725-734.

- Smith, P. J., Wise, L. S., Berkowitz, R., Wan, C., and Rubin, C. S. (1988). Insulin-like growth factor-I is an essential regulator of the differentiation of 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Biol Chem 263, 9402-9408.
- Spinella-Jaegle, S., Rawadi, G., Kawai, S., Gallea, S., Faucheu, C., Mollat, P., Courtois, B., Bergaud, B., Ramez, V., Blanchet, A. M., et al. (2001). Sonic hedgehog increases the commitment of pluripotent mesenchymal cells into the osteoblastic lineage and abolishes adipocytic differentiation. J Cell Sci 114, 2085-2094.
- Student, A. K., Hsu, R. Y., and Lane, M. D. (1980). Induction of fatty acid synthetase synthesis in differentiating 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. J Biol Chem 255, 4745-4750.
- Sue, N., Jack, B. H., Eaton, S. A., Pearson, R. C., Funnell, A. P., Turner, J., Czolij, R., Denyer, G., Bao, S., Molero-Navajas, J. C., et al. (2008). Targeted disruption of the basic Kruppel-like factor gene (Klf3) reveals a role in adipogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 28, 3967-3978.
- Suh, J. M., Gao, X., McKay, J., McKay, R., Salo, Z., and Graff, J. M. (2006). Hedgehog signaling plays a conserved role in inhibiting fat formation. Cell Metab 3, 25-34.
- Sullivan, C. S., Grundhoff, A. T., Tevethia, S., Pipas, J. M., and Ganem, D. (2005). SV40-encoded microRNAs regulate viral gene expression and reduce susceptibility to cytotoxic T cells. Nature 435, 682-686.
- Sun, Y., Koo, S., White, N., Peralta, E., Esau, C., Dean, N. M., and Perera, R. J. (2004). Development of a micro-array to detect human and mouse microRNAs and characterization of expression in human organs. Nucleic Acids Res 32, e188.
- Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Chang, K. J., and Baltimore, D. (2006). NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 12481-12486.
- Tam, W. (2001). Identification and characterization of human BIC, a gene on chromosome 21 that encodes a noncoding RNA. Gene 274, 157-167.
- Tamori, Y., Masugi, J., Nishino, N., and Kasuga, M. (2002). Role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma in maintenance of the characteristics of mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Diabetes 51, 2045-2055.
- Tanaka, T., Yoshida, N., Kishimoto, T., and Akira, S. (1997). Defective adipocyte differentiation in mice lacking the C/EBPbeta and/or C/EBPdelta gene. Embo J 16, 7432-7443.

- Tarasov, V., Jung, P., Verdoodt, B., Lodygin, D., Epanchintsev, A., Menssen, A., Meister, G., and Hermeking, H. (2007). Differential regulation of microRNAs by p53 revealed by massively parallel sequencing: miR-34a is a p53 target that induces apoptosis and G1-arrest. Cell Cycle 6, 1586-1593.
- Tazawa, H., Tsuchiya, N., Izumiya, M., and Nakagama, H. (2007). Tumor-suppressive miR-34a induces senescence-like growth arrest through modulation of the E2F pathway in human colon cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 15472-15477.
- Teleman, A. A., Maitra, S., and Cohen, S. M. (2006). *Drosophila* lacking microRNA miR-278 are defective in energy homeostasis. Genes Dev 20, 417-422.
- Thai, T. H., Calado, D. P., Casola, S., Ansel, K. M., Xiao, C., Xue, Y., Murphy, A., Frendewey, D., Valenzuela, D., Kutok, J. L., et al. (2007). Regulation of the germinal center response by microRNA-155. Science 316, 604-608.
- Thomson, J. M., Parker, J., Perou, C. M., and Hammond, S. M. (2004). A custom microarray platform for analysis of microRNA gene expression. Nat Methods 1, 47-53.
- Timchenko, N. A., Wilde, M., Nakanishi, M., Smith, J. R., and Darlington, G. J. (1996). CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha (C/EBP alpha) inhibits cell proliferation through the p21 (WAF-1/CIP-1/SDI-1) protein. Genes Dev 10, 804-815.
- Tong, Q., Dalgin, G., Xu, H., Ting, C. N., Leiden, J. M., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (2000). Function of GATA transcription factors in preadipocyte-adipocyte transition. Science 290, 134-138.
- Tong, Q., Tsai, J., Tan, G., Dalgin, G., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (2005). Interaction between GATA and the C/EBP family of transcription factors is critical in GATA-mediated suppression of adipocyte differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 25, 706-715.
- Tontonoz, P., Hu, E., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1994). Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPAR gamma 2, a lipid-activated transcription factor. Cell 79, 1147-1156.
- Tseng, Y. H., Butte, A. J., Kokkotou, E., Yechoor, V. K., Taniguchi, C. M., Kriauciunas, K. M., Cypess, A. M., Niinobe, M., Yoshikawa, K., Patti, M. E., and Kahn, C. R. (2005). Prediction of preadipocyte differentiation by gene expression reveals role of insulin receptor substrates and necdin. Nat Cell Biol 7, 601-611.

- van Rooij, E., Sutherland, L. B., Qi, X., Richardson, J. A., Hill, J., and Olson, E. N. (2007). Control of stress-dependent cardiac growth and gene expression by a microRNA. Science 316, 575-579.
- Visone, R., Russo, L., Pallante, P., De Martino, I., Ferraro, A., Leone, V., Borbone, E., Petrocca, F., Alder, H., Croce, C. M., and Fusco, A. (2007). MicroRNAs (miR)-221 and miR-222, both overexpressed in human thyroid papillary carcinomas, regulate p27Kip1 protein levels and cell cycle. Endocr Relat Cancer 14, 791-798.
- Visvanathan, J., Lee, S., Lee, B., Lee, J. W., and Lee, S. K. (2007). The microRNA miR-124 antagonizes the anti-neural REST/SCP1 pathway during embryonic CNS development. Genes Dev 21, 744-749.
- Voorhoeve, P. M., le Sage, C., Schrier, M., Gillis, A. J., Stoop, H., Nagel, R., Liu, Y. P., van Duijse, J., Drost, J., Griekspoor, A., et al. (2006). A genetic screen implicates microRNA-372 and microRNA-373 as oncogenes in testicular germ cell tumors. Cell 124, 1169-1181.
- Wang, E. A., Israel, D. I., Kelly, S., and Luxenberg, D. P. (1993). Bone morphogenetic protein-2 causes commitment and differentiation in C3H10T1/2 and 3T3 cells. Growth Factors 9, 57-71.
- Wang, Y., Kim, K. A., Kim, J. H., and Sul, H. S. (2006). Pref-1, a preadipocyte secreted factor that inhibits adipogenesis. J Nutr 136, 2953-2956.
- Welch, C., Chen, Y., and Stallings, R. L. (2007). MicroRNA-34a functions as a potential tumor suppressor by inducing apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 26, 5017-5022.
- Wightman, B., Ha, I., and Ruvkun, G. (1993). Posttranscriptional regulation of the heterochronic gene lin-14 by *lin-4* mediates temporal pattern formation in *C. elegans*. Cell 75, 855-862.
- Wilfred, B. R., Wang, W. X., and Nelson, P. T. (2007). Energizing microRNA research: a review of the role of microRNAs in lipid metabolism, with a prediction that miR-103/107 regulates human metabolic pathways. Mol Genet Metab 91, 209-217.
- Williams, A. E. (2008). Functional aspects of animal microRNAs. Cell Mol Life Sci 65, 545-562.
- Wolfrum, C., Shih, D. Q., Kuwajima, S., Norris, A. W., Kahn, C. R., and Stoffel, M. (2003). Role of Foxa-2 in adipocyte metabolism and differentiation. J Clin Invest 112, 345-356.

- Wu, J., Srinivasan, S. V., Neumann, J. C., and Lingrel, J. B. (2005). The KLF2 transcription factor does not affect the formation of preadipocytes but inhibits their differentiation into adipocytes. Biochemistry 44, 11098-11105.
- Wu, L., and Belasco, J. G. (2008). Let me count the ways: mechanisms of gene regulation by microRNAs and siRNAs. Mol Cell 29, 1-7.
- Wu, L., Fan, J., and Belasco, J. G. (2006). MicroRNAs direct rapid deadenylation of mRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 4034-4039.
- Wu, Z., Bucher, N. L., and Farmer, S. R. (1996). Induction of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma during the conversion of 3T3 fibroblasts into adipocytes is mediated by C/EBPbeta, C/EBPdelta, and glucocorticoids. Mol Cell Biol 16, 4128-4136.
- Wu, Z., Xie, Y., Morrison, R. F., Bucher, N. L., and Farmer, S. R. (1998). PPARgamma induces the insulin-dependent glucose transporter GLUT4 in the absence of C/EBPalpha during the conversion of 3T3 fibroblasts into adipocytes. J Clin Invest 101, 22-32.
- Xiao, J., Luo, X., Lin, H., Zhang, Y., Lu, Y., Wang, N., Zhang, Y., Yang, B., and Wang, Z. (2007). MicroRNA miR-133 represses HERG K+ channel expression contributing to QT prolongation in diabetic hearts. J Biol Chem 282, 12363-12367.
- Xu, P., Vernooy, S. Y., Guo, M., and Hay, B. A. (2003). The *Drosophila* microRNA Mir-14 suppresses cell death and is required for normal fat metabolism. Curr Biol 13, 790-795.
- Yang, B., Lin, H., Xiao, J., Lu, Y., Luo, X., Li, B., Zhang, Y., Xu, C., Bai, Y., Wang, H., et al. (2007). The muscle-specific microRNA miR-1 regulates cardiac arrhythmogenic potential by targeting GJA1 and KCNJ2. Nat Med 13, 486-491.
- Yang, W. J., Yang, D. D., Na, S., Sandusky, G. E., Zhang, Q., and Zhao, G. (2005). Dicer is required for embryonic angiogenesis during mouse development. J Biol Chem 280, 9330-9335.
- Yeh, W. C., Cao, Z., Classon, M., and McKnight, S. L. (1995). Cascade regulation of terminal adipocyte differentiation by three members of the C/EBP family of leucine zipper proteins. Genes Dev 9, 168-181.
- Yekta, S., Shih, I. H., and Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroRNA-directed cleavage of HOXB8 mRNA. Science 304, 594-596.

- Yi, R., Qin, Y., Macara, I. G., and Cullen, B. R. (2003). Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev 17, 3011-3016.
- Young, A. R., and Narita, M. (2007). Oncogenic HMGA2: short or small? Genes Dev 21, 1005-1009.
- Yu, F., Yao, H., Zhu, P., Zhang, X., Pan, Q., Gong, C., Huang, Y., Hu, X., Su, F., Lieberman, J., and Song, E. (2007). *let-7* regulates self renewal and tumorigenicity of breast cancer cells. Cell 131, 1109-1123.
- Zehentner, B. K., Leser, U., and Burtscher, H. (2000). BMP-2 and sonic hedgehog have contrary effects on adipocyte-like differentiation of C3H10T1/2 cells. DNA Cell Biol 19, 275-281.
- Zhang, J., Fu, M., Cui, T., Xiong, C., Xu, K., Zhong, W., Xiao, Y., Floyd, D., Liang, J., Li, E., et al. (2004a). Selective disruption of PPARgamma 2 impairs the development of adipose tissue and insulin sensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 10703-10708.
- Zhang, J. W., Klemm, D. J., Vinson, C., and Lane, M. D. (2004b). Role of CREB in transcriptional regulation of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta gene during adipogenesis. J Biol Chem 279, 4471-4478.
- Zhao, Y., Ransom, J. F., Li, A., Vedantham, V., von Drehle, M., Muth, A. N., Tsuchihashi, T., McManus, M. T., Schwartz, R. J., and Srivastava, D. (2007). Dysregulation of cardiogenesis, cardiac conduction, and cell cycle in mice lacking microRNA-1-2. Cell 129, 303-317.
- Zhao, Y., Samal, E., and Srivastava, D. (2005). Serum response factor regulates a muscle-specific microRNA that targets Hand2 during cardiogenesis. Nature 436, 214-220.
- Zhou, X., Benson, K. F., Ashar, H. R., and Chada, K. (1995). Mutation responsible for the mouse pygmy phenotype in the developmentally regulated factor HMGI-C. Nature 376, 771-774.
- Zhu, S., Si, M. L., Wu, H., and Mo, Y. Y. (2007). MicroRNA-21 targets the tumor suppressor gene tropomyosin 1 (TPM1). J Biol Chem 282, 14328-14336.
- Zhu, S., Wu, H., Wu, F., Nie, D., Sheng, S., and Mo, Y. Y. (2008). MicroRNA-21 targets tumor suppressor genes in invasion and metastasis. Cell Res 18, 350-359.
- Zuo, Y., Qiang, L., and Farmer, S. R. (2006). Activation of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP) alpha expression by C/EBP beta during adipogenesis requires a
peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma-associated repression of HDAC1 at the C/ebp alpha gene promoter. J Biol Chem 281, 7960-7967.